
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
  
 
104th Board Meeting - via teleconference 
 
1-888-354-0094, participant code 4192084# 
 
Wednesday, March 30, 12:00 noon – 12:30 p.m. 
851 SW Sixth Avenue, Suite 1200 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
 
12:00 noon 104th Board Meeting - Call to Order (John Reynolds)  


• Approve agenda 
• Approve February 9, 2011 meeting minutes 1 Action 


 
12:05 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
 
12:10 p.m. Audit Committee (Julie Hammond) 2 


• Review results of financial audit  
Grant Jones and Mark Schuessler, Perkins & Co.  Information 


• Acceptance of audited financial report for period 
ending 12/31/10 (Resolution 581)  Action 


 
12:30 p.m. Adjourn 
 


The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be held 
Wednesday, May 4, 2010, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 


851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon  
 







Agenda  March 30, 2011 


   2


 
INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
 


 
 Board Meeting Agenda                            
 
Tab 1 February 9, 2011, meeting minutes 
 
Tab 2 Audit Committee 


• Acceptance of audited financial report for period ending 12/31/10  (R581) 
• Draft audited financial report for period ending 12/31/10 


 
Tab 3 Policy Committee 


• Notes from March 8 meeting 
 
Tab 4 Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from January 28 meeting 
 
Tab 5 Finance Committee 


• Quarterly Dashboard 
• December financials and contract summary report 
• Financial glossary – updated March 19, 2011 


 
Tab 6 Staff Report 


• Customer service dashboard – call and website volume – February 2011 
• 2011 Oregon Legislation update 


 
Tab 7 Advisory council notes 


• CAC notes from March 9 meeting 
 








 
 
 
 


1 
 


 
CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on March 9, 2011  
 
Attending from the Council: 
Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas 
Holly Meyer, NW Natural 
Wendy Gerlitz, NW Energy Coalition 
Lauren Shapton, PGE 
Paul Case, ORA 
Don Jones, Jr., Pacific Power 
Stan Price, NEEC 
Don McOdrum, HP Guild 
 
Attending from Energy Trust: 
Tom Beverly 
Matt Braman 
Diane Ferington 
Fred Gordon 
Marshall Johnson 
Steve Lacey 


Peter West 
Jessica Rose 
Lakin Garth 
Kate Scott 
Nick Parsons 
Phil Degens 
Sue Fletcher 
Leana Mathews 
John Volkman 
 
Others attending: 
Jeremy Anderson, WISE 
Maureen Quaid, CEWO 
Adam Zielinski, HP Guild 
Terry Miller, CSG 
Sam Hagerman, ORA


1. Welcome and introductions 
Peter West called the meeting to order at 1:40 pm. The March agenda was accepted. The IRP 
goals discussion was moved up to accommodate Steve Lacey’s schedule. 
 
NOTE: All materials referenced are available on the Energy Trust website.  
 
2. Setting Goals in Coordination with IRP (Review) 


 
Steve Lacey presented information about integrated resource plan (IRP) goal setting. On 
February 3, we met with the utility roundtable and Energy Trust board, and reached an 
agreement about consistent ways to characterize savings toward IRP and funding agreement 
goals. 
 
The CAC needs to review and consider this information, then we’ll take it to the board and 
OPUC. It doesn’t need action from the board, but should be reviewed. 
 
We previously had stretch and conservative goals. Conservative goals were 75 percent of 
stretch. SB 838 allowed investor owned utilities to collect supplemental funds beyond SB 1149 
money to help meet IRP targets. Gas companies are under an obligation to do the same. 
 
Energy Trust develops the savings potential, operates programs, and has a savings range, 
terms, funding levels, and process in place to review the rate of acquisition. We meet annually 
with the utilities to review progress and to make tariff adjustments. We maintain a 5 percent 
cushion. 
 
IRP targets and utility agreements both link to Energy Trust stretch goals. Before 2011, utility-
Energy Trust agreements had a range of 90%-100% of stretch goal. In 2011, directors adopted 
a budget that included a range of 85-100 percent of stretch goals. The 2011 utility agreements 
are aligned to use this range. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


2 


 
There are differences in the ways utilities portray their targets. PGE views it as a multi-year 
average. Pacific Power uses them as gross savings with a high confidence level in 
achievement, each year. Energy Trust proposes a single, consistent way of formulating and 
reporting savings: the IRP target equals 85 percent of the stretch goal. This aligns IRP targets 
with conservative goals both Energy Trust board approved goals and utility agreement goals. 
With this convention, utilities can rely on this number to meet their IRP filed targets; where 
linking IRP targets to stretch goals caused uncertainty about whether they could be attained 
annually. 
 
Over a five year horizon, our conservative goal still exceeds the Northwest Power and 
Conservation Council’s 6th Power Plan. Program managers and funding agreements will 
continue to aim at 100 percent of goals. 
 
Discussion: 
 
Stan Price: Remind me again what is the methodological approach that defines 100 percent? 
How do you center on 100 percent of IRP? 
 
Steve Lacey: 100 percent is our program goal. We use information we get from the marketplace 
and from PMCs. We look at what’s possible at that funding level. The stretch goals are 
achievable, but not necessarily something we will hit every year. 
 
Don Jones: From a utility user’s standpoint, how much is out there? Fred and the planning 
group set these things. We set our goals, but rely on you to tell us. 
 
Steve: We get third party consultants confirming numbers, also. 
 
Fred Gordon: What is the IRP going to say is out there in terms of conservation? We talk to 
utilities and staff, get pieces that are there, and things we think we can do. We come up with a 
growth rate. It’s a triangulation of what’s out there, the other factors, and what we think we can 
do. 
 
Stan Price: So this may be closer to what the council predicts? 
 
Diane Ferington: Technology affects it, also. New, higher efficiency equipment. 
 
Holly Meyer: So, really, we’re getting consistent about our labels. The IRP is going to be based 
on conservative goals. The stretch goals will be the funding level? 
 
Steve: Yes. 
 
Steve: We need to help inform the OPUC about this issue, because we’re asking the utilities to 
fund at a higher rate than the IRP goals. The OPUC needs to understand why we’re doing this 
and endorse it. 
 
Holly: If you don’t use the five percent buffer, and it keeps getting bigger, is there a cap on it? 
 
Steve: Yes, we have a check-in process with the funding utilities that occurs each August where 
we review current funding rates and future funding needs. Jim Abrahamson: At that point, 
utilities can adjust the funding levels? 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


3 


Steve: Yes. We do this each year so we can fine tune it in a meaningful way. 
 
Don Jones: Using gross and net is a really just a difference in math. We have settled on gross.  
 
Steve: The important point is to know what we’re conveying to them. Assumptions can cause 
problems. 
 
Peter: I’m basically hearing unanimous support. Is that right? 
 
The group agreed. 
 
Steve: We’ll take it before our board, and remind them of agreement in February during the 
utility round table discussions. Then we’ll present it to the OPUC. Probably no action is needed, 
by them but just an acknowledgment. 
 
Don: Don’t these roll up into the OPUC metrics? 
 
Fred: Yes, but it will depend on how they set the metrics. 
 
Steve: I just want the OPUC to understand we’re funding past the IRP. 
 
Jim: And adjusting annually. 
 
Steve:  Yes 
 
3. 2010 Results (Information) 


 
Peter reported on final results for 20110 after the annual true-up.  The true-up roles in the full 
complement of adjustment factors from 2010 and those for earlier years. There were slight 
increases in savings in 2010. They were more slight for gas than electric.  
 
The final savings after true-up show on a net basis for Pacific Power at 112 percent of stretch. 
PGE is at 94 percent of stretch. There was little change from the preliminary numbers for 
Cascade Natural Gas and NW Natural. We were at 78 percent of stretch for Cascade Natural 
Gas and 98 percent for NW Natural. They will appear in annual reports going forward. 
 
Discussion: 
 
Jim Abrahamson: Kathy Barnard will ask me this. Do these include market transformation 
savings? 
 
Peter West: Yes. NW Natural excludes Washington, though. NW Natural Washington didn’t 
change from what we had before. 


 
4. Residential Incentive Changes (Review) 


 
Presented by Marshall Johnson and Terry Miller (CSG). The changes will go into effect on May 
1, 2011.  
 
First, we’re offering a new, windows standalone incentive. Historically, we needed a second 
measure. For a number of reasons, we’re allowing windows as a standalone. The way we did it 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


4 


before was confusing, caused missing information, frustrated customers, and they were 
sometimes misinformed. We want to support customers. 
 
Jim Abrahamson: I checked your website the other day, but didn’t see this presentation. 
 
Marshall Johnson: It will be there. 
 
Diane Ferington, Peter West: We’ll post materials following the meeting. 
 
Paul Case: Does this change R-5? 
 
Marshall: There is no change on the R-5 requirement. 
 
We also evaluated a windows + insulation bonus. We’re supporting people selling second 
measures by offering the bonus. All trade allies will be notified of the changes at least 30 days 
before they go into effect on May 1. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: Will you have to look at free rider rates again? 
 
Marshall: We determined that it won’t impact free rider rates. 
 
With ductless heat pumps, there is a trend toward new equip that doesn’t meet our specs, so 
we’re reiterating the specs to alert the market. Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance is with us 
on the messaging. Contractors must be trained on equipment from manufacturers to participate. 
 
We will add a Home Performance (HP) assessment incentive of $150 to help contractors get 
customers to do test-ins. There’s a value in having the contractor do it, and it will decrease the 
barrier for customers participating. There are now 85 HP contractors, and it’s viable to shift 
some of the auditing to them. We’ll monitor follow through rates in all program tracks to see how 
it works. 
 
Clean Energy Works Oregon (CEWO) audit customers don’t qualify for the incentive, but we’re 
working on how to shift customers over to CEWO when they need the financing. 
 
Holly Meyer: Is there anything besides the free market that will prevent contractors from raising 
their rates? 
 
Marshall: We’re going to monitor follow through rates, incentives paid where contractors only do 
test-ins, and numbers of measure installations. If contractors aren’t following through, we’ll re-
address the qualifications for the incentive. 
 
Paul Case: What about paying this incentive once they do a measure? 
 
Marshall: We currently pay for home energy reviews, which aren’t free for us to conduct. We’re 
already paying for the capture of data and giving basic info to customers. If you compare that 
cost vs. this new incentive, we will now get all of the data and the homeowner will get more of a 
report than they do now. We get some value even if the customer doesn’t immediately follow 
through. We’re focusing on a group that is less than 15 percent of our contractor base, and 
relying on their ability to sell and close projects. Our reviewers are more neutral, and may not 
sell as well as the contractors. 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


5 


Holly: That makes sense for ETO, but from a customer perspective, does anything keep that 
cost down? 
 
Terry Miller: We engage the contractors who perform assessments, and the market will keep the 
cost from jumping up. But, we’ll still monitor. 
 
Don Jones: This isn’t a new situation, and it’s normal for us to watch the market and put controls 
in. It sounds like you already know you should watch this. The tools are in place. 
 
Marshall: The incentive goes to the customer, and they are paying part of the cost, so they have 
some skin in the game. There is an interest on their part to look at options. 
 
Maureen Quaid: It’s just important to track it going forward. 
 
Paul: The air sealing and duct testing incentives are still there? They are $70 now for air and 
duct testing, but will this add to it? 
 
Marshall: With this, you’re required to do the additional tests involved with Home Performance 
jobs. 
 
Paul: Speaking as any contractor, $80 more for the additional HP testing isn’t enough to make 
me change my business model. 
 
Terry: We’re hoping it will engage the customers and will work from their direction. 
 
Paul: Is the standalone test still going to be around? 
 
Marshall: Yes and HP contractors will get some eligibility requirement information. The nuances 
will come out in more formal communications. 
 
Holly: This looks great, but it seems like behind this, there should be a strategy for figuring out 
communications, since now you have peoples’ info to follow up. 
 
Terry: There’s a separate initiative we’re not covering today that looks more like account 
management, and tries to address drop off points in our current model. Movement is more 
toward starting with a call, then going out if it’s necessary and we need more info. The goal is 
landing on the best opportunities and driving them to contractors for follow up. We’re doing 
enhanced advisor BPI training, and account management. Customers can call advisors and talk 
about things after visiting with contractors. This should help keep their confidence up. 
 
Holly: So the BPI trained advisor will be an account manager? 
 
Terry: A BPI trained CSG employee will do it. 
 
Marshall: We’ll bring a more comprehensive review to the CAC in May, we think. 
 
There is a new incentive for solar site assessment of $100 when done with HP assessment. 
They need to be done within brief period of time (2-4 weeks) of each other. This brings 
integration between solar and efficiency. They weren’t previously as integrated as they could be. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: Is that in addition to the $150? 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


6 


Marshall: Yes, if they get both assessments. 
 
There is a new incentive for energy efficiency measures + solar. Air sealing isn’t a requirement. 
But if someone does both of them together, they get a $300-400 bonus, which we’re in the 
process of finalizing. 
 
Holly Meyer: What is a solar measure defined as? 
 
Marshall, Diane: Solar PV or thermal both count. A complete solar measure will be defined. 
 
There is a new incentive for efficient septic systems, which aligns with Oregon DEQ. It’s for 
replacement of active treatment systems, meaning they have a constantly running pump. There 
are lots of potential savings for homeowners. 
 
Adam Zielinski: This is for a pump motor? 
 
Nick O’Neil: It’s for a system replacing a constant pump with a variable speed pump. 
 
Paul: There’s a problem that has come up with CEWO. It has happened already when a 
contractor isn’t HP or CEWO and they can’t help a homeowner who wants those things. How 
can the larger share of contractors not lose sales when we keep shifting customers toward the 
85 people who are HP or CEWO? It’s something that’s out there as an unintended 
consequence, but some people are out of this market. 
 
Jeremy: I know what you mean, and it leads to a larger discussion of what you’re getting for 
your $150. If it’s like a home energy review, you don’t have to be HP to provide it. The top 25 
people could do it better for less money. What do you want for your $150? The bulk of the cost 
is probably paperwork and modeling. Is that right Paul? 
 
Paul: Beyond air and duct testing it’s probably half. 
 
Jeremy: Beyond air and duct testing, you can do the same thing for less money. 
 
Marshall: The timing is May 1, for incentives and for the new HP modeling tool (maybe slightly 
after May 1). In the interim we have the existing modeling tool. We’re focusing on consistency 
between HER results and HP results from the tools. We’re looking for consistency between 
contractor delivery and our delivery. Customers should at least be informed by the same 
methodology, but with more diagnostics. 
 
Holly: The issue you’re talking about is more about CEWO. If a customer is working with a 
contractor who isn’t approved for CEWO, they lose the business because of the missing 
financing piece. Something needs to be fixed. 
 
Paul: This will motivate people toward HP, but if they already have a relationship with a 
contractor, it will hurt that contractor when the customer wants HP or CEWO. A large share of 
contractors may not have a positive feeling about it, and we should be prepared to deal with it. 
Contractors who aren’t in HP downgrade it and don’t promote it. 
 
Maureen: We recognize the challenges and want to work with contractors and utilities so 
contractors can work as subs to the primes and develop these relationships. That contractor can 
be a sub to the ones who have signed up for the program. We all want to serve the customer 
and will find ways to collaborate and make it work for everyone. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


7 


 
Terry: How realistic is that? 
 
Paul: It’s happening, but some are reluctant, and there’s no set way.  
 
Jeremy: The percentage who will volunteer to be a junior partner is a small subset. There’s a 
pride issue. 
 
Sam Hagerman: There are some who will not want to come to this situation. It’s a great 
business opportunity for others. The audience isn’t every general contractor. 


 
5. Cost ranges for efficiency installations (Information) 


 
Terry Miller (CSG) presented this information to the group. 
 
Customers are dropping off because of lack of cost information. Their first instinct is to ask what 
it will cost. We maintain that we’re not in the bid business, and we want TAs to do that. Instead, 
we’re going to offer a broad price range that is still small enough to be meaningful. We’re going 
to offer it on the phone, put it on leave behinds, and put it on the web site. The data source is 
our real two years of program data from 2008-2010. We can use this as a tool for early decision 
making to get consumers to engage. We want to get them a road map of what they could do. 
Qualifiers will be included in the language – contractor business models, complex home 
structures, and other factors are noted wherever a range is shown. 
 
Peter West: We’ve discussed it before and we’ve gotten feedback here and at the guild. Using 
the cost ranges Stephanie proposed struck people as not quite statistically-based. Can you walk 
us through the methods? 
 
Terry: The ranges were 60 percent to 80 percent of the total, actual range for each measure. 
Sometimes 60, sometimes 80, depending on the data range and a detailed list per measure 
based on actual program data. 
 
Peter: This is just introductory. We should look at where we didn’t have sufficient data and 
agree whether or not we really have enough to publish. 
 
Paul Case: This came up many times before. There’s good reason for it, but contractors get 
frustrated because of its historical nature. It’s old pricing, not current. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: Insulation went up 15 percent last month, for instance. The people I work for 
have extreme antipathy toward this. Give average payback periods instead. Payback may look 
better than expenses, to customers. The problems involved are just huge, from scaring people 
off to getting contractors thrown out, to just confusion. Call center people spend lots of time 
trying to explain it on the phone. Most people won’t read the fine print and don’t have advisors to 
help them. 
 
Marshall Johnson: Of the utilities who have run this, what was your experience? 
 
Don Jones: Cost data is challenging to get in terms of qualifiers and market connection. I do 
support the general idea of giving customers tools like this. Paybacks are one way to do it, but 
cost is really where they land. Using a range, if you’re getting invoices from the program, is the 
gold standard. You need disclaimers behind it. This has the elements of a customer tool, 
especially if people are stalling out after they get an analysis. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


8 


 
Lauren Shapton: Another approach might be saying “costs up to,” so you have a range of how 
big this could be. 
 
Jeremy: This just doesn’t work. 
 
Lauren: I disagree. For example, I’m looking at travel right now, and I’m reviewing the guides 
and looking at the “up to” cost. 
 
Peter West: Lac k of cost information is an identifiable barrier to customers taking the next step, 
providing ranges is a way to eliminate customer barriers. Lauren’s anecdotal example supports 
what our research finds. The level of detail makes sense. We’re going forward, and not going 
back to the other argument. 
 
Adam Zielinski: I would encourage you to lean more toward the 80 percent ranges. Prices do 
change and this is historical data. Prices do fluctuate. Are CEWO-type contractor costs 
included? Anything else? There are extra costs for the advocates. 
 
Marshall: They weren’t included. 
 
Maureen: We’ll report ranges as we work with the Trust, and since we have a single bid 
approach, we realize there is a need for more detail and information. We’ll support this. It might 
be good to get a focus group as you bring your final design into play. 
 
Peter: I agree, and we can use the trade ally roundtables as one group. 
 
Holly: I’m not saying this as NW Natural, but as someone who would like to do this but don’t 
understand it. I don’t know how much space is in my attic. If I have a list of available measures it 
will at least give me a scope if I have some money sitting in the bank. I need some guidance. 
You could drive a truck through the range. Take off the cheapest and highest 20%, show a 
model house and talk about range and payback for different things.  
 
Terry: I agree with your comment, and it leads us to pair it with a call to action. Talk to an 
advisor. It may help people enter the process. 
 
Holly Meyer: It assumes too much knowledge from the consumer. 
 
Peter: Yes, we will need to work on the presentation to make the math relevant. 
 
Sam Hagerman: Give simple examples. Tell what may be needed at different parts of the range. 
At the high end for insulation might be removing some knob and tube, for instance. 
 
Adam: None of the Clean Energy Works Portland jobs are included, are they?  
 
Marshall: The initial data was pulled for the EPS pilot. We’ll share the info with a small set of 
customers, so we didn’t include CEWP jobs. We need to decide if we want to break out those 
tracks. We need to evaluate breaking out by different program tracks.  
 
Adam: Include it all. Don’t include CEW together with subset that doesn’t include it. A CEW 
customer is going to wonder why they don’t match up. It ought to be representative in some 
fashion. 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


9 


Jim Abrahamson: One observation on the point just made. I like the thought of putting more info 
out to get a sense of magnitude and avoid sticker shock. If it’s digestible at the time they look at 
it, it helps. With CEWO I have kind of wondered as a homeowner, if I looked at major work on 
my house, would I be looking at CEWO or the whole set of ETO programs like HP?  I would 
want someone from the different groups to talk to me and see what it’s going to cost. I can 
either pay for it, finance it, or take advantage of CEW financing. Will I be looking at bids of 
apples to oranges? 
 
Marshall: They are similar in their approach. The CEW value is different from HP value. CEWO 
offers enhancements, like an advocate, no upfront capital and on-bill repayment. 
 
Jim: There is a cost to that. Is there a reference to prevailing wages? 
 
Maureen: Contractors are both Energy Trust trade allies and Home Performance program 
contractors. We’re different because we’re a financing program. We work cooperatively to send 
people to HP if they don’t want our financing. Advisors do cost extra, but add some value in 
getting customers to move forward. I would hope we avoid having two people come out to the 
house at all costs. We need to create messaging to avoid that. 
 
Jim: If I knew a little about it, I would think of CEWO as bringing financing. I might not want to 
mess with that at all. I might just contact ETO directly and go through regular channels. 
 
Marshall: Contractors are the conduit for that. They are going to help steer the customers. 
 
Paul: Can we try to add in the payback too? Maybe it would balance things. I recommend that. 
My view of CEWO is that pricing is different. You get assessment that is free, then you get 
financing, and a package of incentives. You can pay it off early. HP contractor doesn’t have that. 
He’s going to charge for the assessment, give a bid, and the homeowner will need to pay. 
 
Jim: Here’s the value I received, the assessment, early payoff, laid out side by side. 
 
Peter: CEW is a separate discussion and we’ll have Maureen back to go over the differences 
and resolve the confusion. 
 
Don Jones: You’re basically going the right direction. People are Googling prices, and getting 
bad information. We don’t provide bids, we don’t install, but you will still need to talk to the 
people who actually do the work. This is just another tool in a toolbox to get people going. Keep 
it updated and it’s valuable information for the customer. 
 
Peter: This will be coming back with more specifics. By then we’ll have a better look at how it 
will be presented, defined, and caveated.  


 
6. Evaluation Results for Duct and Air Sealing (Information) 


 
Phil Degens presented impact analysis for 2008 gas weatherization measures. We don’t have 
that many electrically heated homes that came to good results, so all of them in this evaluation 
were gas. We asked our evaluation committee if we could do this as an internal evaluation. 
They agreed if we had an outside evaluation committee. Michael Blasnik and Scott Pigg were 
part of that committee. 
 
The 2008 analysis follows 2006 and 2007 years. Findings are fairly consistent, but air sealing 
poses challenges. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


10 


 
Key findings: Air sealing bounces around and so does duct sealing. They are also not 
statistically significant. These are all therm savings. The parentheses are per square foot 
numbers. Windows are based on retrofit vs. baseline. 
 
Holly Meyer: Is it weather normalized? 
 
Phil: All of these used a PRISM-like approach where we used normalized annual energy 
consumption. Again, it’s all in therms. 
 
Holly: There’s such a swing, how do we feel good about the results? 
 
Phil: Gas furnaces were stable; ceiling insulation, also. Some measures were fairly stable. I 
would probably look at an average in some cases. Floor insulation is going from very significant 
results to insignificant; same with wall insulation. 
 
Adam Zielinski: Air and duct sealing were fairly odd. 
 
Phil: I’ll address those more. 
 
Jim Abrahamson: Per square foot is per square foot installed? Is duct installation the same? 
 
Marshall Johnson: It’s linear feet for ducts. 
 
Phil: For ceiling insulation in 2006, on average if you installed it, the average job resulted in 75 
therm savings. 
 
Holly: It’s not the same homes over time? 
 
Phil: These are the first year savings for homes that participated in that year by the same 
contractors. If multiple measures were installed, we’ll go into the effects. We have no control 
over how many measures people do. 
 
Fred Gordon: Outside HP, we estimate on a very simple, deemed basis. We’re following 
averages. 
 
Holly: If someone now gets a high efficiency furnace, now they’re not getting as much savings? 
 
Fred: We had a split of furnaces last year and this year. If we see a trend we adjust for it. 
 
Adam: Is HP included? 
 
Phil: HP is evaluated separately. 
 
Marshall: In 2008 they weren’t separated out. 
 
Fred: Home Performance were included in the normal track back then. 
 
Savings were 62 therms or 8 percent of household load per site. Expected air and duct sealing 
savings were not there. 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


11 


For our methods we looked at only participants with full years of utility data both pre and post 
installation. We created comparison groups made up of future participants. 
 
Weather normalization was done using a traditional Princeton scorekeeping method. We used a 
variety of typical data screens. We had fairly good fits; not excessive consumption changes. The 
gross outliers in the first and 99th percentiles were removed, as were sites with too few 
observations. 
 
There was some attrition. We started with 12,000 and the final group was between 5,000 and 
6,000. The change was due to the way some of the data was loaded into the system, which is 
being resolved now. The next analysis will have a larger sample. The actual sample included 
infrequent savings measures that were removed. 
 
We used a difference in differences approach – which means we compared with control groups. 
Multiple variable regression analysis was the other approach. 
 
Findings for 2008 group: 750 therms before installation. Average savings was 82 therms. The 
comparison group had 748 before, and decreased by 20. So, accounting for what happened 
with the control group, the average home saved a net of 62 therms. 
 
Holly: in order for that to make sense, it only helps if none of the homes in the control group 
received incentives. Is that true? 
 
Phil: We looked at that and didn’t allow homes that had participated into the control group. 
 
Measures weren’t additive. Getting ceiling and floor insulation wasn’t additive, we found. Gas 
furnace and duct sealing was another example where it wasn’t additive. That could mean that 
people are sealing the ducts as they install gas furnaces and are doing a good job, but it may 
only mean that. 
 
Each time you add another piece into the savings, there is a marginally decreasing return on 
efficiency. 
 
Holly: It seems like you would see additive savings, and you don’t, here. 
 
Paul Case: Sometimes, when good furnace people go in, they replace ducts and fix major 
problems. For example, the furnace-plenum connection is a weak point, and fixing that makes a 
difference in efficiency. 
 
Jeremy Anderson:  Maybe a large percentage are done by a contractor who does a lot of high 
quality work. 
 
Adam Zielinski: In air and duct sealing, there is high variability because of the location of duct 
runs. Is the house a box with no nooks and crannies, or is it an old place with lots of leaks? 
 
Paul: Do the numbers mean few people did duct sealing with gas furnaces? 
 
Phil: Yes. 
 
Multiple regression shows that the savings were attributable to the measures installed. This is 
the first time we had a large amount of data for many homes. We wanted to see if there was a 
good fit with our constants. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


12 


 
Holly: What is constant? 
 
Phil: In regression, the explanatory variables have a coefficient estimated for them. The place 
where the slope of the line cross the Y axis is the constant. The constant is what the average 
reduction for all participants would have been. It’s the average, regardless of the measures. 
 
Fred Gordon: The average is 21 therms, for example, but then you take out the average for 
each measure. 
 
Holly: That’s the 22 delta on the other chart? 
 
Phil: The comparison group isn’t in this regression because they didn’t install measures. It does 
indicate that in the multi variable approach, with all things being equal, the test group seems to 
compare favorably to the comparison group. 
 
Contractors that were doing duct sealing prior to 2008 had similar savings in 2008 to previous 
years. 
 
We did similar analysis for air sealing, but we haven’t seen the expected measurable savings. 
Gas savings appear to be stable for many of the measures over many program years. 
Consistent modeling yields consistent results over the four years. In the past, different 
consultants with different methods have given different results. This time, these were stable. No 
measure of air and duct sealing savings. 
 
We looked at air sealing contractors active in 2006 and 2007, and we still couldn’t find the 
savings in air sealing. It’s problematic because building science says there’s something there. 
I’m going to review these, also in light of changed incentives. The documentation also changed 
in 2009, and we’re hoping that many of these problems will change for 2009. An unnamed 
contractor was active for part of 2009, so it may still cause problems. 
 
We’re considering additional changes to air and duct sealing. 
 
Marshall: In the context of air sealing and requirements prior to 2009, the measure structure 
might have caused us to think we would get maximum savings for those measures. All the 
protocols, training and certifications out there caused a group of contractors to push air sealing, 
but we hadn’t adjusted our model yet. We’re hoping to have a large enough base of contractors 
with certifications and training to see if they have better performance than the standard track, 
less trained, contractors. We’re considering the future of air sealing and how it’s structured. It’s 
a missed opportunity if you don’t do air sealing before insulation. We need to figure out how to 
get the contractors to do air sealing first. Do we move toward the air changes per hour ACH 
measures instead of reduction as the standard? Do we change who can offer it? Do we require 
it before insulation? Do we move away from calling it out as a line item and add it into insulation 
specs? Do we start a new QC program enhancing documentation methods with digital 
equipment, on the phone, or something else? 
 
Diane Ferington: Will the roundtable meetings be a discussion place for this? 
 
Marshall: We’ll vet these choices at the roundtables. Aside from CEWO we’re looking at how 
much money we can give out for air sealing. Contractors will probably have input, but we need 
measurable savings. 
 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


13 


Jeremy: What’s the average CFM50 savings when you do air sealing? That would be an 
interesting thing to know. 
 
Marshall: One high-volume contractor caused a problem. We’ll remove that, and analysis of the 
numbers will be coming. 
 
Adam: The data presented didn’t include data from jobs that were processed as HP per se. 
There were HP contractors included and submitted in standard track? 
 
Phil: We haven’t gotten that separated out yet. 
 
Marshall: The HP numbers analyzed were small? 
 
Phil: We didn’t look at the HP track for this analysis. 
 
Adam: The number of HP contractors has increased dramatically, and it may help. 
 
Phil: We want to look at that separately. 
 
Maureen: Consider additional training. The analysis showed that savings are there for people 
who know how to do it. Quality is a great indicator. Contractor analysis may be indicative of 
where to target the training. 
 
Marshall: In past years, you could take a 1000 sq ft house and 1000 cubic feet per minute at 50 
pascals (CFM50) would be decently tight, where 1800 CFM50 would be about 14 air changes 
per hour (ACH). You could reduce that by 250 CFM50 and only make a marginal change in 
ACH50. The way we structured it was based on reduction of leakage, but not relative to the 
volume of space in the house. We changed the spec because we wanted it to be somewhat 
open, and wanted to pay based on the homeowners’ investment. We paid 50 percent of cost if 
300 CFM50 reduction was achieved. We were sensitive to the fact that customers were out the 
entire cost if they couldn’t reach the 50 percent reduction. Since then, we learned there was a 
concern in 2007 and 2008 data. Looking at 2009, there has to be a more thoroughly vetted 
process than what occurred in 2009. 
 
Phil: We’ll have 2009 impacts later this year. Currently I can’t estimate when it will be available. 
 
Fred: We have some work to do before we can even test the efficacy of the changes. 
 
Jeremy: There was also a spec change that allowed us to seal tighter. 10ACH was the 
threshold, and we dropped it based on industry comfort and experience. HP set up fairly safe 
protocols to use. 
 
Peter: The simple version: changes incented better, deeper job, with more air sealing savings. 
 
Fred: Changes rolled through middle of 2009, so we don’t even have bills to work with until late 
this year. 
 
Adam: Looking from a BPA contract administration perspective, with RTF revising the 
weatherization specs and requiring prescriptive air and duct sealing (probably based on 
CFM50), one of the ideas I thought of was basing things on a percentage reduction. 300 CFM50 
reduction is nothing in big, leaky house. In a small house, 300 CFM is huge: 30 percent or more. 
With ACH50, you might get a 2000 CFM reduction on a big house, and you might get down to 8 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


14 


ACH50. Using 7 ACH as a threshold will cause small houses to test tight, and large houses 
won’t make the threshold. 
 
Marshall: It’s a good idea, but we need to get technical resources and work with CSG on it. 
 
Adam: One of the big things is that people can lie on their test-ins. It comes down to the QA 
process. You’re okay if you find evidence that something was done. It’s good to have a checklist 
on documentation that QA inspectors can use for inspections. 
 
Peter: What’s the timeline for those question marks? 
 
Marshall: The third quarter roundtable meetings. We can do incentive adjustments by 1/1/2012, 
as a potential date, assuming we have something definitive. 
 
Peter: Adam has identified BPA’s process, and are we engaging? We need a small industry 
subgroup working with CSG, prior to Q3, so you would have vetted and pounded around by 
then, or even sooner, to have something unified. It could be part of the public process; setting 
the stage for more info. 
 
Paul: Can HP jobs be analyzed before that? 
 
Phil: We have several priorities that we’re planning to look at it next. That’s one of the next. 
 
Jim: Good discussion. I find it counterintuitive, on the basis of what happened with changes in 
2009. Saying that effective air sealing doesn’t yield savings, doesn’t compute with me. I 
understand the numbers, but the earlier numbers are so dirty from several situations, 
contractors, honesty, taking leaky houses and making them a little less leaky, and you won’t get 
savings. In 2009, you put an additional thing in place. I like the idea of additional training and 
certification, because I can’t believe you’ll not see savings from air sealing. I’m worried you 
won’t have enough data points to even decide by January. Will I be sitting at this meeting in 
December, while we’re taking air sealing to 0 savings with a new analysis? I’m curious about 
processes being laid out with CSG, so my feedback doesn’t just become a footnote. 
 
Paul: Why not change it now with May incentive changes? Will it throw the numbers off? 
 
Fred: There are steps we need to follow. 
 
Marshall: Similar to Jim and Adam, if you don’t believe air sealing saves money, open some 
windows at home and see how much your utility bill goes up. We know air leakage reduction 
saves energy, but we need to quantify it and have consistent methods. 
 
Peter: Nobody is disagreeing with that. This is an anomalous result that doesn’t make sense. If 
it didn’t challenge good building science, we would just zero out the incentive. You made 
changes in 2009 and are considering others for later in 2010, BPA is looking at further changes, 
so why not get together and accelerate them? May 1, isn’t a sacred time. Let’s accelerate the 
look at this, and line up with others who are doing it. Look at ways we could get together and 
move it forward. 
 
Maureen: ACI is looking at this data and drawing conclusions from it. It’s nationally a big thing. 
The building science says it saves, but the installation quality may not be there. You have to do 
it with quality and standards. Incentive design plays into it, but the installer and quality are more 
important. The lever needs to be applied on behavior. 







CAC notes – 3/9/2011 


15 


 
Jim: ACI has these numbers? 
 
Maureen: Michael Blasnik is sharing them with everyone. 
 
Jim: Is he sharing the nuances and other side of the story that may cause us to think the earlier 
numbers are dirty? 
 
Maureen: He’s data driven, and he’s sharing it. 
 
Jim: He’s focusing on the numbers, rather than the other issues? 
 
Phil: We did a lot of analysis of our unnamed, high volume contractor, and if we took them out, 
we looked at whether there were changes. We need to get a way to make it measurable and 
one of our purposes here is to work with industry to institute the right spec changes, and still 
offer the measure, while ensuring the savings we expect are happening. 
 
Diane: In the 2006 and 2007 analysis, we found that some contractors did good work. 
 
Peter: I appreciate the positive way people went at this, because it could have been “shoot the 
messenger.” We need to accelerate reviewing the parts and get things going, with the industry 
group. 
 
Adam: Michael Blasnik said that infiltration was probably 10% of heating load, but the data 
sample wasn’t large enough to draw firm conclusions. 
 
Peter: This is a good result then. I appreciate the conversation. 
 
7. Public comment 
 
Jim: All of this will be on the web? 
 
Peter: We’ll make sure that everything gets to the web. 
 
8. Meeting adjournment 
Peter thanked all council members for their participation and adjourned the meeting at 4:21 pm. 
The next meeting is April 13, 201, which is a second Wednesday, instead of third. 
 
 
 
 
 








R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 1/28/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 1/1/2011
Page 1 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Administration


 6,335,007  4,139,805  2,195,202Administration Total:


Communications & Outreach


 4,012,721  2,989,139  1,023,582Communications & Outreach Total:


Energy Efficiency Programs
Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Regional Energy Eff 


Initiative


 39,356,800  5,580,009  33,776,791 1/1/10 7/1/15Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2011  7,982,860  0  7,982,860 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2011  7,925,677  0  7,925,677 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PMC NHP 2010  7,134,818  6,862,086  272,732 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Conservations Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 HES PMC  6,601,411  6,104,795  496,616 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. PMC EB 2010  5,717,899  5,150,418  567,481 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


2010 NBE PMC  4,648,693  4,375,484  273,209 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Oregon State University CHP Project - OSU  2,024,263  0  2,024,263 12/20/10 12/20/13Corvallis


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2011  1,775,000  0  1,775,000 1/1/11 12/31/11


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2011  1,479,579  0  1,479,579 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 2010  1,410,204  1,395,282  14,922 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. 2011 MF PMC  1,310,134  0  1,310,134 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 2010  1,126,716  1,062,967  63,749 1/1/10 12/31/10Medford


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010  1,099,298  994,026  105,272 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


OPOWER, Inc. OPOWER Agreement  977,000  405,000  572,000 3/2/10 9/2/11Arlington


Conservation Services Group, 


Inc.


2010 MF PMC  937,849  607,589  330,260 1/1/10 12/31/10Boston


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2011  839,500  0  839,500 1/1/11 12/31/11San Francisco


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2011 Small 


Indsutrial


 805,384  0  805,384 1/1/11 12/31/11Walla Walla


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


PDC - PE 2010 Small 


Industrial


 639,051  634,383  4,668 1/1/10 12/31/10Walla Walla


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2011  637,852  0  637,852 1/1/11 12/31/11Tigard


NEXANT, INC. PDC - PE 2010  614,551  593,577  20,974 1/1/10 12/31/10San Francisco


Evergreen Consulting Group, 


LLC


PE Lighting PDC 2010  475,155  475,153  2 1/1/10 12/31/10Tigard


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative - 2011  466,650  0  466,650 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


SBW Consulting, Inc. Impact Eval 2008-09 BE 


Program


 413,000  363,275  49,725 1/1/10 3/31/11Bellevue


Ecos IQ, Inc. 80 Plus Initiative  400,000  340,994  59,007 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit 


provider


 319,000  278,177  40,823 5/1/08 12/31/10Tucker


The Cadmus Group Inc. NBE Impact Evaluation  295,000  223,037  71,963 1/1/10 12/31/11Watertown


J. Hruska Global HES QA services  280,000  278,733  1,267 1/1/08 12/31/10Columbia City


Cascade Energy Engineering, 


Inc.


Technical Service 


Provider


 278,017  247,738  30,279 8/1/09 7/31/12Portland


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot 2011  163,900  0  163,900 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


City of Portland Bureau of 


Planning & Sustainability


BPS Grant Agreement  150,000  0  150,000 1/1/09 12/31/13Portland


Conservation Services Group 


Inc


2009 NWN WA PMC  146,700  80,851  65,849 10/1/09 12/31/10Westborough


Umpqua Community Action 


Network


Eff Refrigerator Replace 


Proj


 142,000  47,570  94,430 1/1/09 4/1/10Roseburg


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE MF Transitional  - 


2010


 141,066  88,715  52,351 11/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


1


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 1/28/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 1/1/2011
Page 2 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer  137,500  60,228  77,272 8/15/03 8/15/12Portland


Edgar L. Wales Gov't acct management 


services


 122,500  79,168  43,332 5/17/10 4/30/11Canby


Research Into Action, Inc. Portland Clean Energy 


Pilot


 115,000  72,355  42,645 6/18/09 5/31/11Portland


Lockheed Martin Services Inc. NWN WA BE Pilot  101,975  101,850  125 10/1/09 12/31/10Portland


PMConsulting, Inc. EE Consultant Services  100,000  74,005  25,995 4/1/09 3/31/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Eval of 2009-10 BE 


Program


 100,000  93,939  6,061 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. Fast Feedback Survey  88,000  75,929  12,071 2/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2010


 85,000  38,519  46,481 1/1/10 12/31/10Cherry Hill


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. NWN DSM Initiative 


2011


 80,000  0  80,000 1/1/11 12/31/11Cherry Hill


QEI Energy Management, Inc. Technical Energy 


Analysis


 80,000  0  80,000 1/21/10 11/30/11


Stellar Processes, Inc. EE Resource 


Assessment


 75,690  72,423  3,268 3/1/10 1/31/11Portland


ICF Resources, LLC CHP Performance  72,000  50,915  21,085 8/5/09 8/31/11Fairfax


New Buildings Institute Customized Guide 


License


 71,667  71,667  0 8/28/09 12/31/11White Salmon


Walt Mintkeski PE PDC Technical 


Manager


 65,000  54,900  10,100 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


The Cadmus Group Inc. Path to Net-Zero Pilot  49,000  8,871  40,129 11/1/09 12/31/11Watertown


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2011  45,331  0  45,331 1/1/11 12/31/11Portland


Delta-T, Inc. EE Consulting Services  40,000  8,026  31,974 3/1/09 12/31/10Goldendale


Navigant Consulting Inc Kaizen & CA Pilot  40,000  17,251  22,749 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


University of Oregon UofO ESBL Net Zero 


Pilot


 39,695  35,881  3,814 2/1/10 1/15/11Eugene


ICF Resources, LLC Comm. windows savings 


tool


 39,400  38,868  532 5/24/10 12/31/10Fairfax


NW Natural Info Transfer & 


Reimbursement


 35,000  0  35,000 7/12/10 9/2/11Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. DSM Metrics  35,000  34,080  920 9/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Navigant Consulting Inc IEI Pilot Review  30,000  9,729  20,271 11/1/09 6/30/11Boulder


Center of Design for an Aging 


Society


Memory Care Lighting 


Solutions


 26,950  0  26,950 1/18/11 5/31/11Portland


MetaResource Group Indust Measure Lifetime 


Est


 25,000  12,975  12,025 10/10/10 3/31/11Portland


Portland General Electric PGE EE Seminars - 


2010


 25,000  17,911  7,089 1/1/10 12/31/10Portland


Research Into Action, Inc. NWN WA Prgm Process 


Eval


 25,000  13,425  11,575 10/11/10 3/31/11Portland


Walt Mintkeski PDC PE Waste Water 


Treatment


 24,999  0  24,999 1/1/11 5/31/11Portland


Evoworx Inc. Online Audit Service 


Trial


 24,995  21,575  3,420 8/1/10 12/31/10Seattle


Boise Cascade LLC Boise Cascade Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/7/11Saint Helens


Energy Center of Wisconsin Billing Analysis 


Evaluation


 20,000  0  20,000 1/1/10 12/31/11Madison


Georgia Pacific Georgia Pacific Intern  20,000  0  20,000 3/9/10 5/5/11Camas


Michael Blasnick & Associated Billing Analysis Process  20,000  1,313  18,688 1/1/10 12/31/11Boston


Watershed Sciences Inc Airborne Thermal 


Infrared Data


 18,600  0  18,600 11/25/09 5/31/11Corvallis


Conservation Services Group, 


Inc.


CSG MF Transition 


Agreement


 18,500  0  18,500 1/1/11 1/30/11Boston


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


NEEA Gas Seed 


Funding


 15,000  15,000  0 8/31/10 7/1/11Portland


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


PECI NWN Pilot 2010  14,375  5,778  8,597 7/1/10 12/31/10Portland


2


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 1/28/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 1/1/2011
Page 3 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Lane Community College, NEEI 


Science Division


2010 Scholarship Grant  13,600  5,400  8,200 7/8/10 12/31/10Eugene


American Council for and 


Energy Efficient Economy


ACEEE Sponsorship - 


2010


 12,000  12,000  0 10/18/10 3/31/11


Portland Energy Conservation, 


Inc.


DCV Gas Savings Tech 


Brief


 9,980  0  9,980 9/1/10 6/1/11Portland


American Council for and 


Energy Efficient Economy


Large Consumer 


Research Proj


 8,000  8,000  0 12/29/10 12/29/11


Association of Energy Services 


Professionals


AESP Membership 2011  5,000  5,000  0 12/1/10 12/31/10Phoenix


MetaResource Group T12 Retrofit Pilot  5,000  4,463  538 11/22/10 1/31/11Portland


 100,714,784  37,311,300  63,403,483Energy Efficiency Programs Total:


Joint Programs
The Iris Group Marketing Manager 


Comm/Ind/Ag


 155,000  119,850  35,150 1/1/10 12/31/11Portland


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services  76,757  50,407  26,350 1/1/06 12/31/10Portland


Matthew Taylor Evaluation Supoort 


Services


 30,000  17,620  12,380 9/1/09 8/31/11Portland


 261,757  187,877  73,880Joint Programs Total:


Renewable Energy Program
Sunway 3, LLC Prologis PV installation  3,405,000  3,396,044  8,956 9/30/08 9/30/28


Revolution Energy Solutions 


LLC


Biogas Manure Digester 


Project


 1,766,640  0  1,766,640 10/27/10 10/27/25Washington


Rough & Ready Lumber 


Company


Biopower Funding 


Agreement


 1,685,088  974,922  710,166 7/21/06 7/21/26Cave Junction


Alder Solar LLC Habilitation Center PV  1,236,750  1,224,244  12,506 1/18/08 12/31/28Portland


Central Oregon Irrigation 


District


Juniper Ridge 


Hydroelectric


 1,000,000  1,000,000  0 10/31/08 6/30/31Redmond


Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc. Funding Assistance 


Agreement


 827,000  275,667  551,333 6/24/09 6/24/29Corvallis


Tioga Solar VI, LLC Photovoltaic Project 


Agreement


 570,760  114,162  456,598 2/1/09 2/1/30San Mateo


Oregon Institute of Technology Geothermal Resource 


Funding


 487,000  487,000  0 3/2/10 3/2/30Klamath Falls


K2A Properties, LLC Doerfler Wind Farm 


Project


 230,000  0  230,000 5/20/10 5/20/30Aumsville


Oregon Dairy Farmers 


Association


Tech. Assist. & Fac. 


Services


 201,500  176,965  24,535 6/15/07 12/31/11Portland


Luxurious Plumbing and 


Heating, Inc.


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  0  200,000 1/1/11 7/31/12West Linn


Robert Dickson dba D&H 


Industrial


Solar Program Inspector  200,000  0  200,000 1/1/11 7/31/12


Ronald Burden Solar Program Inspector  120,000  21,690  98,310 8/23/10 7/31/12Portland


Steve Ault Inspections Inc Solar Inspector  120,000  9,612  110,388 8/23/10 7/31/12Sisters


Farmers Irrigation District Indian Creek Corridor 


Project


 100,000  100,000  0 1/5/10 1/4/29Hood River


WCE Newberg LLC Wind Project Incentive  95,000  0  95,000 12/10/10 12/10/25Portland


Oregon State University OSU Wind Program  85,670  24,348  61,322 7/1/10 6/30/11Corvallis


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV  79,815  77,390  2,425 12/1/05 12/1/26Dayton


Robert Andrew Volkman Project Finanace 


Consultant


 62,500  1,200  61,300 10/1/10 12/31/11Portland


E. Edison Kennell Small wind technical 


assist.


 60,000  20,768  39,232 8/22/08 12/31/10Bend


Navigant Consulting Inc RE Consultant  45,700  38,721  6,979 3/1/10 3/31/11Boulder


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


Waste water workshops  45,000  26,000  19,000 4/1/10 3/31/11


MC Energy LLC Small Wind Incentive  43,250  0  43,250 9/21/10 9/21/25Spokane


ECONorthwest Economic Impact 


Analysis


 40,000  30,000  10,000 10/13/10 5/31/11Eugene


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 8 (2011)  39,543  39,543  0 7/10/10 6/30/11


3


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.







R00407 Energy Trust of Oregon


Contract Status Summary Report 1/28/2011Report Date:
For contracts with costs 


through: 1/1/2011
Page 4 of 4


Contractor Description Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End*City


Bloomberg LP Solar & Bio Insight 


services


 37,500  37,500  0 4/1/10 4/1/11San Francisco


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart 


Farms


17.5 kW PV project  32,500  31,386  1,114 5/25/07 5/25/27Malin


Keith Rossman Solar Program 


Contractor


 30,000  20,180  9,820 2/1/10 2/1/11Portland


Oregon Community Wind LLC Anemometer Equipment 


Incentive


 28,321  28,321  0 1/15/10 1/14/13Portland


SPS of Oregon Inc Allen Canyon Microhydo  25,000  0  25,000 7/23/10 7/23/30Wallowa


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy 


system


 24,125  4,595  19,530 4/11/07 1/31/24Newberg


Associated Master Inspectors 


LLC


Small Wind Program 


Consultant


 24,000  4,086  19,914 2/22/10 1/31/11Tigard


Oregon Small Wind Energy 


Assocation


Wind Program Grant 


Agreement


 20,000  20,000  0 6/1/10 5/30/11Portland


Renewable Energy Associates, 


LLC


Renewable Energy 


Consultant


 14,700  1,717  12,984 11/1/09 10/31/11Corvallis


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project  13,150  3,089  10,061 10/1/05 10/1/20Salem


Western Community Energy 


LLC


Anemometer Agreement  10,016  7,291  2,725 9/29/10 9/29/12Portland


Darrin Kite RE Consultant Services  10,000  3,307  6,694 9/1/10 1/31/11Portland


Bonneville Environmental 


Foundation


Solar 4R Schools PV - 


2011


 7,800  0  7,800 7/30/10 7/30/11Portland


National Climate Trust Biogas Industry White 


Paper


 7,000  1,250  5,750 11/15/10 2/1/11Portland


Madison Farms Small Hydro regen test 


on farm


 5,381  0  5,381 4/23/10 10/31/11Echo


Luxurious Plumbing and 


Heating, Inc.


Small Wind Consult  900  0  900 1/10/11 1/31/11West Linn


Crook County Crook County Data 


License


 150  0  150 9/15/10 10/15/10Prineville


 13,036,759  8,200,999  4,835,760Renewable Energy Program Total:


 124,361,027  52,829,120  71,531,907Grand Totals:


4


*The city indicated is the contractor's mailing address, not necessarily the location where work was performed.








Customer Service Dashboard—February 2011 
Call Volume 
Call volume dropped significantly to 3,284 in February 2011, after reaching a record high of 
5,269 in January 2011. This is mostly due to February being a shorter month and we did not 
advertise as heavily in February. In addition, many customers called us in January wanting to 
know about the cash incentives available in the new year, and by February, that push has 
ended.  
 


 
 
Website Visits 
Website volume dropped slightly in February 2011 to 37,582. However, we still had around 
4,000 more visits than February 2010. Most customers were seeking information for their home. 
The pages with information on energy-efficient appliances, including the online incentive 
application, were especially popular in February.    
 


 








commitments made in year for future years  ($millions)
2011 2012+


BioPower 1.7$              2.7$              
Other renewables 4.4$              2.2$              
Solar PV 7.3$              -$              


Renewable Energy Programs


Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
Quarterly Dashboard-Fourth Quarter 2010 (UNAUDITED)


45.64 4.78 3.29


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1,000,000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


Fourth Quarter YTD 2010 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2010 Annual Goals


34 
aMW


3.9 
Million
Therms


4.1 
aMW


30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%


100%


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2010 - contractual commitments


Actual spending+commitments as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%


100%


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2011 - contractual commitments


Commitments-to-date as % of annual approved budget
cumulative for the year


$0.0


$20.0


$40.0


$60.0


$80.0


$100.0


J-10 A-10 J-10 O-10 J-11 A-11 J-11 O-11 J-12


Cash Balance Forecast -
Total cash and Free cash


Jan 2009- Dec 2011 


less escrow, reserve, 
dedicated and 
committed funds


274.01 17.93


103.00


Series2,  223.8 Series2,  17.7 


Series2,  19.7 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1,000,000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


Inception- Dec 2010 Progress Toward 2014 
Cumulative Goals


498 
aMW


36 
Million 
Thms


123 
aMW


PROJECTS 13.4$            4.8$              


45.64 4.78 3.29


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1,000,000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


Fourth Quarter YTD 2010 Progress Toward 
Conservative 2010 Annual Goals


34 
aMW


3.9 
Million
Therms


4.1 
aMW


127.3 
146.7 


126.1 122.9 


$0
$20
$40
$60
$80


$100
$120
$140
$160


Revenue Expense


Revenue and expenses - total company
Dec2010 YTD Budget Comparison (in Millions)


Budget Actual


0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Energy Efficiency Programs 
Incentives 2010 - contractual commitments


Actual spending+commitments as % of annual budget
cumulative for the year


Uncommitted budget Commitments


0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%


100%


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Energy Efficiency Programs
Incentives 2011 - contractual commitments


Commitments-to-date as % of annual approved budget
cumulative for the year


Uncommitted projection Commitments


88.8 


23.5 


83.6 


19.6 


$0


$20


$40


$60


$80


$100


Efficiency Electric Efficiency gas


Efficiency spending - electric and gas 
Dec 2010 YTD (in Millions)


Budget Actual


34.4 


19.8 


$0


$10


$20


$30


$40


$50


Renewables


Renewables spending (electric)
Dec 2010 YTD (in Millions)


Budget Actual


$0.0


$20.0


$40.0


$60.0


$80.0


$100.0


J-10 A-10 J-10 O-10 J-11 A-11 J-11 O-11 J-12


Cash Balance Forecast -
Total cash and Free cash


Jan 2009- Dec 2011 


less escrow, reserve, 
dedicated and 
committed funds


274.01 17.93


103.00


Series2,  223.8 Series2,  17.7 


Series2,  19.7 


0%


10%


20%


30%


40%


50%


60%


70%


80%


90%


100%


Energy Efficiency aMW Gas Efficiency Therms (1,000,000) Renewable Generation aMW


Goal


Inception- Dec 2010 Progress Toward 2014 
Cumulative Goals


498 
aMW


36 
Million 
Thms


123 
aMW








DRAFT  
Financial Statements 


For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 
With Independent Auditors’ Report 







DRAFT


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009 


CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 
 
  Page 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
 Statements of Financial Position 2 
 
 Statements of Activities 3 
 
 Statements of Functional Expenses 4-5 
 
 Statements of Cash Flows 6 
 
 Notes to Financial Statements 7-13 
 
 







DRAFT


 


-1- 


INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (the 
Organization) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related statements of activities, functional 
expenses and cash flows for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Organization’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes consideration 
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An 
audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the changes in 
its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
 
DATE 







DRAFT


 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-2- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 


DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009 
 
 


 


ASSETS 2010 2009
 


Cash and cash equivalents 67,600,402$    63,059,795$    
Investments 8,042,156        -                   
Other receivables 11,754             104,466           
Accrued interest receivable 60,418             2,471               
Advances paid to contractor 1,684,682        39,065             
Prepaid expenses 420,341           182,941           
Property and equipment 630,998           270,796           
Other assets 261,677           170,450           
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,436,544        5,533,971        


Total assets 80,148,972$   69,363,955$    


 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
 
LIABILITIES:


Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,603,148$    10,092,364$    
Accrued payroll and related expenses 678,522           537,918           
Deferred rent liability 57,397             104,910           


Total liabilities 18,339,067      10,735,192      


COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
NET ASSETS:


Unrestricted:
Board-designated for specific purposes 1,436,544        5,533,971        
Available for programs and general operations 60,373,361      53,094,792      


Total net assets 61,809,905      58,628,763      
 80,148,972$   69,363,955$    







DRAFT


 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-3- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES 


YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009 
 
 


 


 2010 2009
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
 
FUNDING:


Public purpose funding 84,682,862$    69,486,368$    
Incremental funding 41,023,323      21,810,741      
Interest income 417,905           588,192           
Other income 2,036               6,264               


Total funding 126,126,126    91,891,565      
 
EXPENSES:


Program expenses:
Energy efficiency 99,656,643      80,196,357      
Renewable resources 19,145,850      13,135,516      


Total program expenses 118,802,493    93,331,873      
 


Administrative expenses: 
Management and general 2,466,500        2,172,385        
Communication and outreach - general 1,675,991        1,496,129        


Total administrative expenses 4,142,491        3,668,514        
Total expenses 122,944,984    97,000,387      


INCREASE (DECREASE) IN UNRESTRICTED
NET ASSETS 3,181,142        (5,108,822)       


NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 58,628,763      63,737,585      
 
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR 61,809,905$   58,628,763$    







DRAFT


 
 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-4- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 


YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
 
 


 


 Total Communication Total
 Energy Renewable Program Management and Outreach - Administrative Total
 Efficiency Resources Expenses and General General Expenses Expenses
 
EXPENSES:


Incentives and program management 89,777,278$    16,722,137$    106,499,415$  -$                 -$                 -$                 106,499,415$  
Payroll and related expenses 1,616,129        864,356           2,480,485        1,587,705        461,250           2,048,955        4,529,440        
Outsourced services 4,079,902        816,498           4,896,400        245,581           974,296           1,219,877        6,116,277        
Planning and evaluation 1,361,118        202,493           1,563,611        28,211             19,767             47,978             1,611,589        
Customer service management 780,434           77,837             858,271           -                       -                       -                       858,271           
Trade Allies Network 333,311           34,339             367,650           -                       -                       -                       367,650           
Supplies 10,153             4,798               14,951             8,597               3,449               12,046             26,997             
Postage and shipping 2,915               1,416               4,331               3,040               890                  3,930               8,261               
Telephone 4,178               2,211               6,389               3,309               892                  4,201               10,590             
Printing and publications 54,568             12,000             66,568             4,351               14,820             19,171             85,739             
Occupancy expenses 103,298           50,188             153,486           78,813             31,554             110,367           263,853           
Insurance 19,818             9,629               29,447             15,120             6,054               21,174             50,621             
Equipment 3,010               45,743             48,753             2,297               2,694               4,991               53,744             
Travel 31,638             25,939             57,577             24,513             1,041               25,554             83,131             
Meetings, trainings and conferences 21,641             12,206             33,847             80,313             3,257               83,570             117,417           
Bank fees -                       -                       -                       5,000               -                       5,000               5,000               
Depreciation and amortization 4,553               20,250             24,803             3,474               1,391               4,865               29,668             
Dues, licenses and fees 62,690             30,689             93,379             9,670               5,262               14,932             108,311           
Miscellaneous 13,353             6,625               19,978             178                  34                    212                  20,190             
IT services 1,376,656        206,496           1,583,152        366,328           149,340           515,668           2,098,820        


 
Total expenses 99,656,643$   19,145,850$   118,802,493$ 2,466,500$      1,675,991$     4,142,491$     122,944,984$ 







DRAFT


 
 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-5- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 


YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 
 
 


 


 Total Communication Total
 Energy Renewable Program Management and Outreach - Administrative Total
 Efficiency Resources Expenses and General General Expenses Expenses
 
EXPENSES:


Incentives and program management 71,929,612$    10,792,517$    82,722,129$    -$                     -$                     -$                     82,722,129$    
Payroll and related expenses 1,393,155        835,428           2,228,583        1,320,977        443,865           1,764,842        3,993,425        
Outsourced services 3,338,919        777,970           4,116,889        359,623           832,951           1,192,574        5,309,463        
Planning and evaluation 1,146,655        258,546           1,405,201        18,408             1,698               20,106             1,425,307        
Customer service management 792,166           103,831           895,997           -                       -                       -                       895,997           
Supplies 14,781             7,144               21,925             13,330             5,866               19,196             41,121             
Postage and shipping 2,915               1,626               4,541               5,206               8,482               13,688             18,229             
Telephone 4,626               3,330               7,956               5,046               985                  6,031               13,987             
Printing and publications 55,366             18,719             74,085             5,868               28,775             34,643             108,728           
Occupancy expenses 80,760             48,875             129,635           68,923             29,180             98,103             227,738           
Insurance 20,346             12,314             32,660             17,364             7,351               24,715             57,375             
Equipment 7,677               5,046               12,723             6,552               4,185               10,737             23,460             
Travel 23,494             23,857             47,351             17,885             2,277               20,162             67,513             
Meetings, trainings and conferences 25,464             9,941               35,405             60,630             2,261               62,891             98,296             
Depreciation and amortization 3,030               17,471             20,501             2,586               1,095               3,681               24,182             
Dues, licenses and fees 46,850             1,140               47,990             8,346               3,638               11,984             59,974             
Miscellaneous 1,678               1,661               3,339               120                  296                  416                  3,755               
IT services 1,308,863        216,100           1,524,963        261,521           123,224           384,745           1,909,708        


 
Total expenses 80,196,357$   13,135,516$   93,331,873$   2,172,385$      1,496,129$     3,668,514$     97,000,387$   







DRAFT


 


See notes to financial statements. 
 


-6- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 


YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009 
 
 


 


 2010 2009
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:


Cash received in public purpose funding 84,682,862$    69,486,368$    
Cash received in incremental funding 41,023,323      21,810,741      
Cash received from other sources 75,215             225,799           
Interest received 359,958           593,647           
Cash paid to contractors, suppliers, and employees (117,178,756)   (96,218,020)     


Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities 8,962,602        (4,101,465)       


 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:


Acquisition of investments (10,050,118)     (1,561,276)       
Proceeds from sale of investments 2,007,962        11,388,974      
Acquisition of property and equipment (477,266)          (212,122)          
Decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,097,427        4,594,558        
Proceeds from sale of restricted investments -                       1,049,537        


Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities (4,421,995)       15,259,671      


 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,540,607        11,158,206      
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 


BEGINNING OF YEAR 63,059,795      51,901,589      
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT


END OF YEAR 67,600,402$   63,059,795$    


 
RECONCILIATION OF INCREASE (DECREASE) IN


NET ASSETS TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Increase (decrease) in net assets 3,181,142$      (5,108,822)$     
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets 


to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Depreciation 117,064           99,762             
Net changes in: 


Other receivables 92,712             212,018           
Accrued interest receivable (57,947)            5,455               
Advances paid to contractor (1,645,617)       745,222           
Prepaid expenses (237,400)          10,891             
Other assets (91,227)            (75,496)            
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,510,784        (81,256)            
Accrued payroll and related expenses 140,604           128,679           
Deferred rent liability (47,513)            (37,918)            


 5,781,460        1,007,357        
Net cash provided by (used in) operating


activities 8,962,602$     (4,101,465)$     







DRAFT


 


-7- 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009 
 
 


NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION 
 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (Energy Trust), a nonprofit 501(c)(3) organization (the Organization), began 
collecting public purpose revenues in March 2002.  By the terms of its grant agreement with the Oregon 
Public Utility Commission (OPUC), it is charged with investing in cost-effective energy conservation, 
funding above-market costs of renewable energy resources, and encouraging energy efficiency market 
transformation efforts in Oregon. 
 
Energy Trust funds come from a 1999 energy restructuring law, which required Oregon’s two largest 
investor-owned utilities to collect a three percent “public purposes” charge from their customers.  A 
portion of that charge is transferred to Energy Trust, and the remainder is dedicated to energy 
conservation efforts in low-income housing and K-12 schools, as well as low-income housing 
improvements.  The original sunset date for collection of the public purpose charge was 2012.  In 2007, 
the legislature extended the sunset date to 2026. 
 
The law authorized the OPUC to direct a majority of these public purpose funds to a non-governmental 
entity for investment.  Energy Trust was created for this sole purpose.  In November 2001, Energy Trust 
entered into a grant agreement with the OPUC to guide Energy Trust’s electric energy work.  The grant 
agreement was developed with extensive input from key stakeholders and interested parties, and it has 
been amended several times since 2001.  The agreement is reviewed annually by the OPUC and is 
automatically extended annually for an additional three years unless Energy Trust or the OPUC give 
notice otherwise. 
 
In 2007, the Oregon Senate passed Bill 838 (OSB 838), which allowed electric utilities to request an 
increase in rates to pursue additional energy conservation opportunities.  In 2008, PacifiCorp and Portland 
General Electric elected to send funds related to OSB 838 to Energy Trust to pursue energy conservation 
opportunities for retail electricity purchasers of less than one average megawatt.   This precludes Energy 
Trust from providing services with this funding to some larger commercial and industrial customers.  
These funds are reported separately in the statement of activities as “incremental funding.”  The funds 
received from PacifiCorp and Portland General Electric may be used for conservation efforts in addition 
to activity funded by the public purpose funds. 
 
In addition to its work under the 1999 energy restructuring law, Energy Trust administers natural gas 
conservation programs for residential and commercial customers of NW Natural.  Under the terms of the 
2003 agreement with the OPUC, NW Natural collects and transfers to Energy Trust a surcharge of the 
total monthly amount billed to non-industrial customers.  Energy Trust uses these funds for energy 
efficiency efforts to benefit NW Natural’s Oregon residential and commercial customers. 
 
In 2009, Energy Trust began administering energy efficiency programs for qualified industrial customers 
of NW Natural.   
 
In 2009, Energy Trust entered into a Washington Customer’s Public Purpose Funds Transfer Agreement 
with NW Natural.  Under the terms of the agreement, NW Natural agrees to transfer funds (Washington 
Funds) and customer information to Energy Trust to design and administer cost-effective energy 
efficiency programs for existing homes and businesses to NW Natural customers in Washington.  In 
2010, the agreement was amended to include similar programs for builders constructing new homes in 
NW Natural’s Washington service territory.  The agreement expires on December 31, 2011, unless 
extended by the two parties. 
 







DRAFT


 


-8- 


In 2006, Energy Trust began administering natural gas conservation programs for residential and 
commercial customers of Cascade Natural Gas Corporation (Cascade) under public purpose agreements.  
Each agreement provides for a different methodology for determining the amount of funds to be provided 
to Energy Trust. 
 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Accounting - The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis of Presentation - Energy Trust is required to report information regarding its financial position and 
activities according to three classes of net assets under generally accepted accounting principles: 
unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets and permanently restricted net assets.  Energy 
Trust had no temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net assets as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009. 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk - Energy Trust’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, money 
market instruments and certificates of deposit with maturities at acquisition of three months or less.  
These financial instruments may subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk, as the market 
value of securities is dependent on the ability of the issuer to honor its contractual commitments.  All of 
its non-interest bearing cash balances were fully insured at December 31, 2010 due to a temporary federal 
program in effect from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2012.  Under the program, there is no 
limit to the amount of insurance for eligible accounts.  Beginning 2013, insurance coverage will revert to 
$250,000 per depositer at each financial institution, and the Organization’s non-interest bearing cash 
balances may, again, exceed federally insured limits. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at December 31: 
 


 2010  2009 
    
Cash $ 20,455,800  $ 8,080,865
Money market instruments  10,011,031   44,970,323
Certificates of deposit  37,133,271   10,008,607
 $ 67,600,402  $ 63,059,795


 
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents - Energy Trust has money market instruments with a value of 
$1,436,544 and $5,533,971 reported as restricted cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2010 and 
2009, respectively.  These funds are held in escrow accounts for the benefit of program recipients, as 
contractually required and designated by the board of directors of Energy Trust. 
 
Investments - Investments consist primarily of certificates of deposit with maturities at acquisition of 
greater than three months.  Energy Trust regularly reviews its investments to determine whether a decline 
in fair value below the carrying value is other-than-temporary.  If a decline in fair value is considered 
other-than-temporary, the carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of the write-
down is included in results of operations. 
 







DRAFT


 


-9- 


Property and Equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which generally range 
from three to five years.  It is Energy Trust’s policy to capitalize property and equipment over $5,000.  
Lesser amounts are expensed. 
 
In 2010, the Organization incurred costs for an internal-use software project.  Such costs have been either 
capitalized or expensed in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 350-40, Internal-
Use Software.  The internal-use software asset has not been placed in service as of December 31, 2010. 
 
Revenue Recognition - All funding is considered available for unrestricted use unless specifically 
restricted by the donor.  Public purpose and incremental funding are recognized when funds are received 
from the funding source.  Other income and interest income are recognized at the time services are 
provided and the revenues are earned. 
 
Expense Allocation – The costs of providing various programs and supporting services have been 
summarized on a functional basis in the statements of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. 
 
Advertising - Energy Trust expenses advertising costs as incurred.  Advertising costs include activities to 
create or stimulate a desire to use Energy Trust’s services that are provided without charge.  Advertising 
expense amounted to $1,348,220 and $1,141,348 for 2010 and 2009, respectively. 
 
Income Taxes - Energy Trust is exempt from federal and state income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code and comparable state law. 
 
Generally, the Organization is subject to examination by federal, state and local income tax authorities for 
three years from the filing of a tax return.  With few exceptions, the Organization is no longer subject to 
such examinations for years ended before December 31, 2007. 
 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires that management make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31: 
 


 2010  2009 
    
Computer equipment and software $ 976,859  $ 1,010,947
Leasehold improvements  22,382   22,382
Office equipment and furniture  138,156   127,354
Program equipment at service sites  87,564   101,675
  1,224,961   1,262,358
Less accumulated depreciation  991,466   991,562
  233,495   270,796
Internal-use software asset in process  397,503   -
 $ 630,998  $ 270,796


 







DRAFT


 


-10- 


NOTE 4 - LINES OF CREDIT 
 
Energy Trust maintains a line of credit agreement with Bank of the Cascades.  Under the agreement, 
Energy Trust has available an unsecured line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000.  The interest rate is 
based on the Bank of the Cascades prime rate less 0.5% (2.75% at December 31, 2010).  The line matures 
on March 31, 2011.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, no borrowings were outstanding under the line 
of credit.  On January 12, 2011, Energy Trust terminated the line of credit agreement with Bank of the 
Cascades. 
 
Energy Trust maintains a second line of credit agreement with Umpqua Bank.  Under the agreement, 
Energy Trust has available an unsecured line of credit in the amount of $4,000,000.  The interest rate is 
based on the Umpqua Bank prime rate less 0.5% (2.75% at December 31, 2010).  The line matures on 
September 5, 2011.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, no borrowings were outstanding under the line 
of credit. 
 
 
NOTE 5 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the statements of financial position are categorized based 
upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value.  Level inputs, as 
defined by ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, are as follows: 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than those included in Level 1.  For example, quoted market prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, or quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
inactive markets. 
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing 
the asset or liability.  Level 3 assets and liabilities include investments whose value is determined using 
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for 
which the determination of fair values requires significant management judgment or estimation. 
 
Fair values of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis at December 31 are as follows: 
 


  Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 
December 31, 2010         
Certificate of deposit:         


In cash and cash equivalents  $ 37,133,271  $ -  $ 37,133,271  $ -
In investments   8,042,156   -   8,042,156   -
   45,175,427   -   45,175,427   -


Money market instruments:         
In cash and cash equivalents   10,011,031   10,011,031   -   -
In restricted cash and cash 


equivalents 
 


 1,436,544   1,436,544   -   -
   11,447,575   11,447,575   -   -


Mutual funds:         
In other assets   233,677   233,677   -   -


Total at fair value  $ 56,856,679  $ 11,681,252  $ 45,175,427  $ -
 







DRAFT


 


-11- 


December 31, 2009         
Certificate of deposit:         


In cash and cash equivalents  $ 10,008,607  $ -  $ 10,008,607  $ -
          


Money market instruments:         
In cash and cash equivalents   44,970,323   44,970,323   -   -
In restricted cash and cash 


equivalents 
 


 5,533,971   5,533,971   -   -
   50,504,294   50,504,294   -   -


Mutual funds:         
In other assets   144,450   144,450   -   -


Total at fair value  $ 60,657,351  $ 50,648,744  $ 10,008,607  $ -
 
The availability of observable inputs can vary from instrument to instrument and is affected by a variety 
of factors including the availability of published interest rates on similar assets.  The level of a fair value 
measurement within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety.  The categorization of a fair value measurement within the 
hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily correspond to 
the Organization’s perceived risk of that instrument. 
 
The Organization’s certificates of deposit trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but their 
fair values are based on dealer quotations supported by observable inputs and, therefore, are categorized 
in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  There were no changes in valuation techniques for certificates of 
deposit during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
 
 
The notes to financial statements continue on the following page. 
 







DRAFT


 


-12- 


NOTE 6 - PUBLIC PURPOSE FUNDING AND INCREMENTAL FUNDING 
 
Public purpose funding and incremental funding received are as follows for the years ended December 
31: 
 


 2010  2009 
Public Purpose Funding    
    
Portland General Electric:    
 Energy efficiency $ 27,065,764  $ 26,669,621
 Renewable resources  7,697,460   7,841,615
  34,763,224   34,511,236
PacifiCorp:    
 Energy efficiency  16,538,516   16,391,296
 Renewable resources  4,990,986   4,944,255
  21,529,502   21,335,551
Northwest Natural - Oregon:    
 Energy efficiency  25,957,440   12,183,840
    
Northwest Natural – Washington:    
 Energy efficiency  990,416   455,566
    
Cascade:    
 Energy efficiency  1,442,280   1,000,175


Total public purpose funding $ 84,682,862  $ 69,486,368
    


Incremental Funding    
    


Portland General Electric $ 22,034,356  $ 13,655,740
PacifiCorp  18,988,967   8,155,001


Total incremental funding $ 41,023,323  $ 21,810,741
 
 
NOTE 7 - OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
Energy Trust leases its administrative offices under operating lease agreements which expire in December 
2011.  Energy Trust also leases various office equipment under operating lease agreements.  At December 
31, 2010, the aggregate annual commitments under the terms of these leases are payable as follows: 
 
 Years ending December 31, 
 


2011   $ 473,018
2012    6,140
   $ 479,158


 
Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $405,229 and $351,596, respectively. 
 







DRAFT


 


-13- 


NOTE 8 - RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
Energy Trust provides all employees with a qualified profit sharing retirement plan as prescribed under 
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Generally, employees who have completed at least three 
consecutive months of work may elect to make voluntary contributions to the plan on a pre-tax basis, up 
to the limits allowed by law.  Employees select from various investment options.  On a discretionary 
basis, as determined annually by the board of directors, Energy Trust may make contributions to the plan.  
For each of the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, Energy Trust contributed to the plan an amount 
equal to 6% of the compensation earned by each eligible employee during the period.  Employees are 
immediately vested in all contributions to the plan.  Retirement plan expense recorded by Energy Trust 
was $293,704 and $255,102 for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.   
 
 
NOTE 9 - CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS 
 
Energy Trust enters into contract commitments for various energy efficiency and renewable resource 
programs.  As of December 31, 2010, the Organization expects to pay approximately $45 million in 
future periods under these commitments.  Expenditures for these commitments are recorded in the period 
in which they are incurred. 
 
Energy Trust had projects and incentive payment requests in progress that did not meet its recognition 
criteria at both December 31, 2010 and 2009.  The amounts are unquantifiable and, as such, not disclosed 
in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 10 - BOARD-DESIGNATED NET ASSETS 
 
Due to the long-term nature of certain renewable energy projects, the board of directors of Energy Trust 
has authorized amounts to be segregated into escrow accounts to be used for larger long-term projects.  
The funds held in escrow accounts are to be paid out under criteria specific to each project.  In the 
financial statements, these funds are considered designated for those specific projects. 
 
 
NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
We have evaluated subsequent events through March __, 2011, the date that these financial statements 
were available to be issued. 
 












 
 


Meeting notes 
Evaluation Committee Meeting 
 
January 28, 2011 10am-1pm 
 
Attendees: 
Debbie Kitchin, Board Member – Committee Chair 
Alan Meyer, Board Member 
Dan Enloe, Board Member 
Tom Eckman, Expert Outside Reviewer, Northwest Power and Conservation Council 
Phil Degens, Evaluation Manager 
Brien Sipe, Evaluation Project Manager 
Jason Christensen, Evaluation Intern 
Sarah Castor, Evaluation Project Manager 
David Jackson, Lockheed Martin, Business Development Manager 
Fred Gordon, Director of Planning and Evaluation 
Kate Hawley, NW Natural Washington Coordinator 
Lewis Colon, CSG, Senior Manager of Strategy and New Initiatives 
Lucinda Gilman, CSG, Program Analyst 
Marshall Johnson, Existing Homes Program Manager 
Matt Braman, Planning Program Manager 
Murali Varahasamy, Lockheed Martin, Existing Buildings Program Manager 
Pete Catching, Planning and Economic Analysis Manager 
Peter West, Director of Energy Programs 
Roger Spring, Evergreen Lighting (by phone) 
Ryan Bliss, Research Into Action (by phone) 
Scott Kenaston, Evergreen Lighting (by phone) 
Spencer Moersfelder, Existing Buildings Program Manager 
Steve Lacey, Director of Operations 
Sue Meyer Sample, Chief Financial Officer 
Terry Miller, CSG, Existing Homes Program Manager 
 
The meeting began at 10am with a review of the agenda.  
 
Agenda 


1. T12 Bonus Initiative report 
2. NW Natural Washington Evaluation 
3. Billing Analysis: Existing Homes Gas Measures  
4. Next meeting date and agenda 


 
Review of the Organizational Redesign Evaluation was postponed until the next meeting. 
 
1. T12 Bonus Initiative report 
Contractor: Metaresource Group 
 
The goals of this evaluation were to assess contractor reaction to the temporary lighting bonus 
offered for replacement of T12 fixtures with T8 fixtures. T12s will be phased out of energy codes 
in the next few years and the bonus attempted to hasten the conversion of fixtures. The bonus 
was offered August 1, 2010 through December 15, 2010. The program expected to increase the 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


2 
 


number of replacements for that period by 5,000 units. Tom asked for clarification that the 
incentive and goals were for fixtures and not lamps (it was for fixtures). Phil said the evaluation 
took only two weeks and is an example of the quick turnaround we can do on simple projects.  
 
The evaluation interviewed 11 lighting contractors to obtain feedback needed to determine 
whether the bonus should be continued past December 15. Main findings were: 


• Many T12 fixtures remain unconverted – seven of the contractors said that 50 percent or 
more of fixtures still have not been converted. 


• The bonus incentive was viewed as important in selling projects by all contractors. 
• Most say they did not have time to market the incentive.  
• All but one say the bonus incentive should be continued.  


 
Debbie and Alan said that the original bonus time frame was too short for most customers to act. 
Fred said that the lighting market assessment done in 2009 showed only 12 percent of fixtures 
were T12, and wanted to know why these contractors saw it differently. Phil said that these 
contractors are talking about certain markets segments where they are still selling a lot of fat 
tubes. He added that there was more bonus traction in Southern Oregon – Portland may be 
mostly T8s, but not other places. 
 
Dan asked what the ROI is for going from T12s to T8s if you just need to replace the lamps (not 
the fixture). Phil said each saves 213 kWh per year; Dan estimated that’s $20 a year in savings, 
so payback is 4 or 5 years – the bonus shaves a year off. He also asked when the energy code 
will change. Fred said that for ballasts, it hasn’t been decided, but probably around 2014; for 
lamps 2013. Dan said that getting people to move ahead of code fits our mission. 
 
Fred noted that some newer lamps fit in old ballasts and also provide more light, so they don’t 
need as many ballasts. He said we are in the process of constructing a market transformation 
model and it looks like we have influenced the change in ballast standards. Debbie agreed that 
the discrepancy in estimated saturation was because of special market segments. She also 
noted that T8s have been code for at least 13 years in Oregon new construction. Dan said that 
since the ballast seems to be where the biggest savings are, it is good that the ballast is the 
requirement for the incentive, not just the lamp. 
 
Findings (continued): 


• The program estimated that the bonus had exceeded its goal of 5,000 additional fixtures 
by 3,700 (8,700 total). This represents 1,853,000 kWh savings (average 213 kWh per 
fixture).  


• The bonus spurred the trade ally pool to sell projects during a recession and helped get 
the program close to its stretch goal. 


• Southern Oregon saw an increase where lighting trade ally activity was historically flat. 
• Eastern Oregon did not see as significant of an increase as the rest of the state. 
• The evaluation recommended extending the bonus on the basis of interviews. 


 
Alan asked why there was no increase in activity in Eastern Oregon. Roger responded that there 
are fewer active trade allies there. Alan said that should mean there is more opportunity there. 
Murali said he hopes to get more projects in Eastern Oregon this year since we are continuing 
the bonus through November 1, 2011. 
 
Alan said the question is still how we motivate customers to act quickly while still providing 
enough time for larger organizations to act. Debbie said that it depends on the market segment. 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


3 
 


Roger said that the trade allies surveyed were the top, most active allies and they are usually 
good at selling projects, but they were convinced that this bonus tipped more projects than they 
could have otherwise. They processed 350 projects in a month where they usually process 100. 
 
Fred asked whether we will desensitize customers to the urgency if we always extend bonuses. 
Roger said that he made it clear at the recent trade ally training sessions that November 2011 is 
a hard cut-off date. 
 
2. NW Natural Washington Pilot Evaluation 
Contractor: Research Into Action 
 
Energy Trust began running a pilot program for NW Natural in its Washington service territory in 
October 2009. The pilot provided a set of gas efficiency services and incentives to their 53,000 
residential and commercial customers. There are significant differences in offerings between 
Energy Trust’s programs in Oregon and the Washington pilot (no custom commercial measures, 
no residential appliance incentives, availability of a gas furnace incentive). There is limited 
coordination with Clark County PUD on energy efficiency. 
 
The pilot was extended from September 30, 2010 through December 31, 2010 and re-labeled a 
program for the 2011 year. Kate said there will be a decision on May 25th on whether we will 
continue administering the program fulltime. Debbie asked whether the Board approved of the 
extension for 2011; Kate said they did so in December. Fred noted that the board will want to 
approve a long term commitment. 
 
Fred asked why it changed from a pilot to a program. Kate said NW Natural wanted to establish 
a longer term view for the offering. Phil noted that custom projects not available in the pilot are 
now available in the program. 
 
In the first year of operation (Oct. 2009-Sep. 2010), the pilot acquired 120,900 therm savings, 
nearing the WUTC high goal of 130,000 therms (low goal was 97,500). The pilot did not meet its 
internal goals for the residential sector (36,952 vs. 43,875 conservative goal), but exceeded its 
internal goal in the commercial sector (83,945 vs. 71,500 goal). New homes were not included in 
the pilot and goals but added an additional 4,050 therm savings. Kate said there have been 90 
homes so far. 
 
Alan noted that the goals were fairly small. Phil said that was because the territory is small and it 
was the first year up and running there. Debbie noted that when we started doing gas programs 
here, we were already doing electric, so the program was mostly in place. Phil said that it takes 
time to get contractors and customers aware. Debbie said it also takes contractors time to find 
customers. 
 
The number of projects went up in the 3rd and 4th quarter of 2010; it took time to process some of 
the projects and incentives. 
 
Research questions for the evaluation were: 


• Do trade allies experience specific challenges to selling energy efficiency services and 
equipment in Washington? 


• How do the needs for energy efficiency improvements of SW WA natural gas customers 
compare to those of Oregon natural gas customers? 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


4 
 


• What obstacles, if any, do trade allies face in completing an Energy Trust incented 
project? 


• Should Energy Trust undertake additional marketing efforts to promote the program? 
 
Phil noted that we had limited budget for evaluation. Alan asked for verification that the 
evaluation budget came from NW Natural Washington customers. NW Natural did allocate 
separate funds that were not from Oregon public purpose funds. Debbie asked where money for 
future evaluations will come from, and whether the budget will be larger. Phil said that will be 
negotiated with the WUTC. Kate said we will have more in the budget for next year. Debbie 
asked because there is so much more we want to know about the customers that can’t be found 
from secondary sources – we need a survey. Fred said the question is how good a program can 
we afford to run in a small territory. We’re finding that out from this pilot/program. 
 
The evaluation included a review of program documents, review of a Clark County demographic 
report (produced by Evaluation staff), review of Energy Trust’s Trade Ally Survey and Fast 
Feedback from Washington, interviews with program and PMC staff, and interviews with 11 trade 
allies that primarily serve the SW WA market. 
 
Demographic Findings: 


• Bulk of NW Natural customers are in Clark County. 
• Compared to Multnomah County, there are fewer gas households (1 in 3 homes), newer 


housing stock (46% built since 1990), and greater home ownership rates. 
• Gas only program is relevant to a small percentage of households and newer housing 


reduces the need for weatherization services. Greater home ownership should counteract 
this. 


 
Debbie was surprised how different Washington is demographically. She asked if codes were 
introduced at about the same time. Tom said yes, although 2x6 walls weren’t code in 
Washington until 1996. Phil said the low prevalence of gas means we should do targeted 
marketing, not mass marketing. Dan asked if NW Natural could identify older accounts. Phil said 
we’re not allowed to use billing data to target customers, but Brien said we have property records 
and we could use those. Alan asked about the use of billing data for marketing with all utilities. 
Peter said John Volkman is negotiating a new agreement, but we don’t have an OPUC liaison, 
so it is taking a long time.  
 
Fast Track analysis shows Washington based residential contractors were more active than 
those based in Oregon (average of 7 vs. 4 projects) and six contractors were responsible for 
40% of the residential projects. Phil said we had assumed our contractors in Oregon would work 
more in Washington than they have; Debbie noted that there is still some activity. 
 
Trade ally (TA) interview findings: 


• Program started at the beginning of the heating season possibly hampering awareness 
and TA participation 


• 5 of the interviewed contractors had worked with us less than one year 
• 9 had sufficient information to market the pilot/program to customers 
• Most (9 of 11) were satisfied with Energy Trust  
• Two respondents had issues with inspections and two had issues with billing paperwork 
• Contractors largely had a high degree of awareness of available programs: 


o 8 always mention our incentives 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


5 
 


o 7 always mentioned the federal tax credit 
o 7 actively promoted Clark County PUD programs 


• All 11 said they always promote the most efficient systems 
• 10 had submitted or helped submit program paperwork (9 reported difficulties but did not 


see these as serious obstacles) 
• 9 contractors indicated that their customers were receptive to energy efficiency projects 
• 4 said that customers were unaware that incentives were available before they undertook 


the project 
• Almost all felt that most customers were largely unaware of energy efficiency offerings 


available 
• Almost all felt that there were no major obstacles to the program 


 
Phil noted that training and forms help are important for us to provide. 
 
Contractors had lots of suggestions for program improvements, including more collaboration with 
SW Washington organizations and utilities and dropping the “of Oregon” in our name. Tom 
encouraged Energy Trust to coordinate with Clark and other PUDs on market research. Peter 
noted that this was only the first year so we were establishing relationships. Peter asked if 
Amber has been consulted on dropping “of Oregon” – she should have a say. Phil said it was 
just a suggestion and she has reviewed the document.  
 
Fred said the suggestions on providing information on financing options were interesting, since 
NW Natural has a financing offer and contractors don’t use it often. Kate added that GreenStreet 
lending is available in Washington.  
 
On the commercial sector side, 10 contractors did all of the projects. Lockheed Martin also did 
direct installs of steam traps. Phil suggested we could extend the commercial contractor network. 
 
Debbie noted that the ratio of projects and therms over time is interesting, there is lots of 
variation. Phil said there are relatively few commercial projects, which causes variability.  
 
Fast Feedback surveys show customers are generally satisfied with the program and its aspects. 
Dan noted that you generally want a year of billing data before people are asked to evaluate the 
performance of the measures. Fred said that was true, but it is still worth asking after only a few 
months. 
 
Phil said he noticed there were not a lot of furnace projects – they turnover every 20 years, so 
that’s 5% of the market that need to be replaced every year. Matt noted that they may just not be 
getting our incentive.  
 
Recommendations: 


• Create Washington-specific marketing materials to educate consumers that the program 
is available to residents of Southwest Washington as well as Oregon. 


• Adapt marketing messages to educate consumers that newer housing stock can also 
benefit from EE improvements 


• Coordinate marketing efforts with Clark County PUD. 
• Carry out targeted marketing activities to outlying areas of Clark County 
• Recruit trade allies that serve outlying areas into the program 
• Recruit more Washington-based trade allies to promote greater penetration in that 


market.  







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


6 
 


• Direct resources to assisting building shell contractors to promote their services.  
• Educate HVAC contractors to promote duct sealing, air sealing, insulation, and other 


building performance measures 
 
Tom said to be sure to look at territory maps, not just census data for targeted marketing. Debbie 
said we should also pay attention to home vintage. Phil said it is most important to market to 
trade allies, so they can promote the program in applicable homes. 
 
Energy Trust’s take: 


• The pilot has successfully met goals in its first year of operations with regard to customer 
and trade ally satisfaction. 


• The program is blazing a new path under difficult economic conditions. It is doing this 
with a limited set of offerings and for a single fuel with little collaboration from the resident 
electric utility. 


• Trade allies seem optimistic and are for the most part satisfied with Energy Trust and 
aligned with the program goals. 


• We should actively recruit Washington based trade allies in 2011 and think about how to 
get Oregon contractors over the river. 


• We should rethink “of Oregon” for marketing purposes. 
• Some innovative ideas have been developed, such as direct install of steam traps and 


the study funding process  
 
Phil also said we should compare our TA list with Clark PUD’s.  
 
Dan suggested that in the spirit of Tom Peterson, who used his wife’s name in his rebranding, 
we should be “Energy Trust of Oregon and SW Washington, too”. 
 
Alan asked if we are looking at forming a subsidiary. Fred said we haven’t found it worth the 
trouble so far. Sue said there would be a fair amount of cost involved. Fred said it might require a 
separate board. 
 
Phil said that the direct installs of steam traps were particularly successful and Fred notes that 
this is the delivery method in Oregon now as well – Washington was the pilot for that. Brien 
mentioned steam traps now cost half as much with the new delivery method. The study process 
has also changed: the customer now pays for the study (rather than Energy Trust paying a 
portion) and when they do a project we pay them back for part of the cost of the study. 
 
Dan concluded by saying that if we offer Home Energy Reviews in SW Washington (we do), we 
can also use the tagline “Free is a very good price”. 
 
3. Billing Analysis: 2008 Existing Homes Gas Measures  
 
Brien presented the analysis following on the work he did for 2006 and 2007 program years. 
Findings are relatively consistent from year to year, which is reassuring. However, determining 
savings from air sealing continues to be an issue. 
 
 
 
 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


7 
 


Measure 2006 only 2007 only 2008
Air sealing 15 -25 5.2
Duct sealing 32** 37** 5.6
Gas furnace 75*** 78*** 68***
Windows†(per sqft) 47 (0.19***) 9 (0.034) 50 (0.2***)
Ceiling insulation (per sqft) 75 (0.06***) 59 (0.047***) 65 (0.052***)
Floor insulation (per sqft) 43 (0.04***) 47 (0.041***) 59 (0.051***)
Wall insulation (per sqft) 54 (0.05***) 61 (0.061***) 62 (0.06***)
Duct insulation (per sqft) 8 (0.04) 33 (0.16**) 28 (0.14***)
** and *** indicate that estimates are statistically significantly different from zero. 
†Deemed windows savings are based on ‘incremental’ savings, impact estimates in this table represent 
‘replacement’ savings and are not de-rated to account for baseline assumptions. 
 
Window savings estimates have to be de-rated to account for the current assumed baseline of a 
0.35 U-value window. Alan asked if NEEA claims the rest of the savings between the old window 
and 0.35. Phil said NEEA doesn’t claim gas savings and Fred said that 0.35 was the baseline 
before Energy Trust was established. 
 
Dan pointed out that based on average project size, ceiling insulation saves the most overall (65 
therms). Sarah noted that it also has slightly higher free ridership, lowering net savings 
somewhat.  
 
Phil noted that windows are always becoming more efficient and the baseline is moving. Debbie 
added that more styles are available in efficient models. Phil said that Energy Star is moving to 
0.30 U-value and we are going to be adding a stand-alone measure for 0.22 windows this year. 
Marshall noted that isn’t final, but we may have two tiers at 0.30 and 0.22. We are currently still 
evaluating and we need to estimate free ridership to know if they will pass cost-effectiveness. 
Fred said that we might be able to claim market transformation on the change from a baseline of 
0.35 to 0.30 U-value. Tom asked what was going on with windows in 2007 (only 9 therms). Brien 
said he is checking into this and Phil noted that is it not statistically significant.  
 
On average participants in our gas program saved 8% of their total load. However, air and duct 
sealing seem to have no savings. Brien said that there was one contractor who did the majority 
of the 2008 projects and this contractor did not appear to do an effective job, based on billing 
analysis. Other contractors who were active in 2006 and 2007 did show savings for their duct 
sealing jobs of around 30 therms; however, air sealing jobs still show no savings for any 
contractors. Since 2008, there have been enhancements to program documentation 
requirements and incentive structure that may result in more savings. (Details are discussed 
below “conclusions”, further down in these notes). Dan gave the analogy of a leaky tire even if 
you plug most of the holes, that just makes the same amount of air push out of the remaining 
hole with more force; you have to plug all the holes to see a benefit. Brien said that in addition to 
the problem contractor being rejected as a trade ally, the measure requirements have changed 
and contractors are now required to specify where they performed the air sealing. Tom said that 
this is a consistent problem for all air sealing programs – the program only knows the air 
tightness after sealing, not before.  
 
Michael Blasnik (Blasnik and Associates) and Scott Pigg (Energy Center of Wisconsin) have 
been contracted to review these analyses and they approved of the methods and results. 
Methods used were from workshops on best practices conducted in 2008. 
 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


8 
 


Sample attrition is mostly due to inability to match billing data to participants and is believed to 
be random. We are improving the billing database by the end of Q1 2011 and this is expected to 
reduce attrition. Two types of models were used to estimate savings and results were very stable 
across models. A variation excluding outliers was also estimated and results were fairly similar.  
 
Savings were also estimated for common bundles of measures and show that interactive effects 
reduce the savings for the additional measures; as Tom says, “You can’t save the same therm 
twice”.  
 
Dan pointed out that in one model wall insulation saved more than ceiling insulation, the opposite 
of a different model. Marshall said in some cases walls may save more than ceiling since walls 
usually have no insulation to start, but the program allows ceilings to have up to R18 pre-
treatment.  
 
Brien pointed out a nice finding: modern furnaces are about 14% more efficient that old ones 
(AFUE of 0.94 vs. 0.80) and the gas furnace savings estimate was 15% of total heating load, 
which aligns well.  
 
Models show that “naturally occurring” savings were about 20 therms. Tom noted that in general, 
gas loads are declining over time. Matt also noted that 2008 was the year of large gas rate 
increases which motivated people to save. Fred added that it could be caused by spillover, we 
just don’t know.  
 
Phil said that savings per square foot for insulation are similar to estimates coming out of 
Wisconsin. Debbie said that should not necessarily be the case, since they have different 
housing stocks. Brien said that intuitively there should be some correlation, though they won’t be 
the same. Phil said that Wisconsin has been doing weatherization as long as we have and it is 
reassuring that they aren’t wildly different. 
 
Most 2008 duct sealing contractors show some savings (except for the problem contractor), but 
for air sealing, none of the contractors’ work showed savings. Fred asked for verification that the 
program changed mid-2009, and it did. So we may not see savings from billing analysis for a 
while. 
 
Dan said that new furnace and gas water heaters are required to get combustion air from outside 
the house (old ones didn’t) and so they have to heat the air to inside temperatures. This isn’t 
being accounted for in the air sealing modeling. Fred said if you seal up the house, the furnace 
has to work harder to pull air inside. Steve said that it was not as simple as that. Phil said that 
the cost of a new vent was not worth the extra savings. 
 
Fred asked if furnace estimates account for incremental savings rather than replacement. Brien 
said no and Phil said it is not worth de-rating for baseline.  
 
Conclusions: 


• Gas savings appear to be stable over program years (with some exceptions). 
• Consistent modeling techniques yield comparable results across program years. 
• No measureable air sealing savings; duct sealing estimated savings are also zero. 


o One high volume contractor performed over 50% of projects involving these 
measures. 


o This contractor also did over half of the total projects involving these measures in 
2009. 







Evaluation Committee Notes  January 28, 2011 


9 
 


• Energy Trust is exploring options for the future of air sealing: 
o Prescriptive, with checklist? 
o Included in insulation installation spec? 
o Incentive rolled into insulation incentives? 


 
Tom asked about the current quality control process for air sealing. There is now a checklist to 
verify all places sealed. Marshall added that test-out (post-treatment blower door test) is verified. 
He asked Tom if it would make a difference to change from measuring sealing in CFM50 to 
ACH50. Tom said that normalizing to home (by using ACH50) may help you measure better 
sealing, but savings should still be showing up using CFM. Using ACH won’t find savings; our 
best chance to find savings is to look at homes we really thought were sealed properly. 
 
Dan said that in his experience with his home, you have to go around and look at all areas 
(preferably with an infrared camera) especially up high on the walls. Tom said that it is hard to do 
air tightness right and to make it last. Marshall noted that there was no history of certification for 
this and little training until BPI came in. They are now improving knowledge and he hopes to see 
changes in savings in future program years.  
 
Fred said that we can’t seal homes as tightly as in other parts of the country because of mold 
issues. Tom added that it may make some problems (like mold and air quality) worse. He said 
that state’s low income weatherization programs spend a lot of time on this area, and we should 
take a look at their training. We also want sealing not to cost a lot. 
 
Phil said that Michael Blasnik and Scott Pigg were surprised to see no air sealing savings, but 
they work on low income weatherization where there are better opportunities for savings, other 
services, and costs are lower – their mission statement is different. 
 
Debbie asked about areas for further research and implications for programs; should we 
continue air sealing? Fred said we’re waiting to see 2009 savings – if there is a way to make it 
work, we should stay in. Phil said we expect to have 2009 results in mid-2011. Tom is interested 
to see how the program is performing since changing requirements. Fred said we will also be 
looking at cost-effectiveness of insulation. Matt said that right now ceiling is the most cost-
effective and is just marginal; prescriptive duct sealing would be much cheaper and would get 
the measure to cost-effectiveness.  
 
4. Next meeting date and agenda 
 
The next meeting will probably cover: 


• Existing Buildings 2008-2009 Impact Evaluation 
• Plant Closure Study 
• Fast Feedback Q3 2010 
• Business Listing and County Tax Assessor File Database Pilot Study 
• Organizational Redesign Evaluation 


 
The committee discussed the status of other projects currently underway.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 12:55pm.  
 
The next meeting is scheduled for Friday, April 29th, 10am to 1pm.  








Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2010


(Unaudited)


DEC NOV DEC Change from Change from
2010 2010 2009 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents 67,600,402 72,151,134 63,059,796 (4,550,732) 4,540,606
  Restricted Cash (Escrow Funds) 1,436,544 1,436,240 5,533,972 305 (4,097,427)
  Investments 8,042,156 8,042,156 0 8,042,156
  Receivables 72,173 22,773 106,937 49,400 (34,764)
  Prepaid Expenses 420,340 427,513 182,941 (7,173) 237,399
  Advances to Vendors 1,684,682 1,509,424 39,065 175,258 1,645,617


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
   Total Current Assets 79,256,297 83,589,240 68,922,710 (4,332,943) 10,333,587


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 87,564 101,675 101,675 (14,111) (14,111)
  Computer Hardware and Software 976,859 1,079,910 1,010,947 (103,051) (34,088)
  Software Development 397,503 397,503 0 397,503
  Leasehold Improvements 22,382 22,382 22,382 0 0
  Office Equipment and Furniture 138,156 138,156 127,354 0 10,802


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,622,464 1,739,626 1,262,358 (117,162) 360,106
  Less Depreciation (991,466) (1,094,471) (991,562) 103,005 96


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 630,998 645,156 270,796 (14,158) 360,202


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 28,000 28,000 26,000 0 2,000
  Deferred Compensation Asset 233,677 203,763 144,451 29,914 89,227


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Other Assets 261,677 231,763 170,451 29,914 91,227


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Assets 80,148,972 84,466,159 69,363,957 (4,317,186) 10,785,016


============= ============= ============= ============= =============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 17,600,463 7,080,765 10,090,054 10,519,698 7,510,408
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 444,846 459,737 393,467 (14,891) 51,380


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 18,045,309 7,540,502 10,483,521 10,504,807 7,561,788


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 57,397 61,356 104,910 (3,959) (47,514)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 233,677 203,763 144,451 29,914 89,227
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,685 2,685 2,310 0 375


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 293,759 267,805 251,671 25,955 42,088


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities 18,339,068 7,808,307 10,735,192 10,530,761 7,603,876


Net Assets
  Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,436,544 1,436,240 5,611,283 305 (4,174,738)
  Unrestricted Net Assets 60,373,360 75,221,612 53,017,482 (14,848,253) 7,355,877


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Net Assets 61,809,904 76,657,852 58,628,765 (14,847,948) 3,181,139


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 80,148,972 84,466,159 69,363,957 (4,317,186) 10,785,016


============= ============= ============= ============= =============
BS-Acct-YTD-001







 January February March April May June July August September October November December Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 6,671,534$    6,662,197$    3,652,827$    1,697,273$    3,976,963$    (161,844)$      (3,832,674)$   1,746,479$    (633,843)$      402,881$       (2,152,711)$   (14,847,948)$  3,181,134$    


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 27,217           6,882             7,129             7,129             7,128             7,627             7,284             8,231             8,449             8,253             7,580             (103,005)         (96)                 
Deferred Rent Amortization (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)            (3,960)            (3,959)             (47,513)          


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable -                 -                 -                 -                 (4,583)            (3,235)            (1,223)            (1,161)            319                (6,345)            6,386             (50,575)           (60,417)          
Other Receivables 17,555           74,099           9,233             (176)               (5,919)            12,145           (10,719)          -                 (1,233)            (1,038)            60                  1,176              95,183           
Advances to Vendors (1,002,211)     501,106         (1,095,623)     532,244         75,243           (1,057,054)     673,107         234,651         (1,097,058)     6,324             758,916         (175,258)         (1,645,613)     
Other Assets (251,530)        37,463           35,867           8,968             (19,665)          35,254           (5,031)            (16,058)          (54,671)          (17,956)          (58,524)          (22,741)           (328,624)        
A/P - Program Subcontracts 2,726,635      (924,690)        (610,450)        58,816           349,188         744,417         681,872         86,496           85,676           317,520         153,361         (540,006)         3,128,835      
A/P - Incentives (6,885,189)     (26,469)          (265,925)        98,997           (418,882)        467,634         366,154         82,426           1,538,297      (1,595,488)     (98,013)          11,114,804     4,378,346      
A/P - Professional Services (6,449)            8,278             1,324             (2,323)            (22,314)          16,370           185,953         (171,457)        (12,003)          (481)               3,211             2,210              2,319             
A/P - Operations 299,797         (261,864)        29,915           (64,433)          (23,085)          (37,651)          59,396           44,076           14,687           84,312           (86,942)          (57,311)           897                
Payroll and related accruals 31,960           24,388           20,992           11,748           23,890           14,157           (4,335)            (32,339)          2,582             12,258           20,281           15,023            140,605         
Other liabilities 75 (75)                 -                 (20)                 265                130                375                


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,781,330      2,344,285      3,933,929      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,977,385      (152,778)        (793,454)        (1,450,225)     (4,667,590)      8,845,430      


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (8,880)            (8,953)            (5,684)            (433,728)        (20,020)          117,162          (360,103)        
Cash used in Investing Activities -                 -                 (8,880)            -                 (8,953)            -                 -                 (5,684)            (433,728)        (20,020)          -                 117,162          (360,103)        


-                 


Cash at beginning of Period 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,633    78,089,083    80,433,368    84,358,344    84,392,205    82,508,029    84,479,730    83,893,226    83,079,752    81,629,530     68,593,768    


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,625,434      6,097,430      1,772,450      2,344,285      3,924,976      33,861           (1,884,176)     1,971,701      (586,505)        (813,473)        (1,450,225)     (4,550,428)      8,485,330      


Cash at end of period 70,219,203$  76,316,633$  78,089,083$  80,433,368$  84,358,344$  84,392,205$  82,508,029$  84,479,730$  83,893,225$  83,079,752$  81,629,530$  77,079,101$   77,079,102$  


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2010







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Actual & 2011 Budget


2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding 11,690,306    13,889,322    12,086,703   11,388,192   10,685,728    9,520,031     8,757,487      9,194,794     9,549,296      9,685,944      8,870,857      10,389,559   


  Self Direct Repayments -                      -                     -                     -                    -                     -                    -                     -                    -                     -                     -                     -                    


  Investment Income 38,104           37,450           41,434           33,616          39,607           33,901          33,871           19,891          16,601           12,363           31,720           18,917          


Total cash in 11,728,410    13,926,772    12,128,137   11,421,808   10,725,335    9,553,932     8,791,358      9,214,685     9,565,897      9,698,307      8,902,577      10,408,476   


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts 903,376         3,103,658      4,884,422     2,593,437     1,996,940      3,178,173     1,816,159      2,326,255     4,234,752      2,037,665      2,434,022      3,815,530     


    Incentives 8,264,022      3,417,690      4,037,383     5,100,739     3,453,860      4,583,261     7,686,532      3,542,187     3,895,762      7,100,320      6,519,815      9,664,166     


    Salaries and related expense 513,577         551,487         561,974        559,376        584,684         580,094        644,158         572,273        621,579         580,886         556,849         502,433        


    Professional services 345,002         411,181         785,365        614,972        589,352         1,053,937     450,155         730,193        753,352         718,134         579,933         745,799        


    General operating expenses 76,998           345,327         86,543           209,000        175,522         124,607        78,533           72,077          646,957         74,775           262,181         230,974        


Total cash out 10,102,976    7,829,343      10,355,687   9,077,523     6,800,358      9,520,071     10,675,537    7,242,985     10,152,402    10,511,780    10,352,799    14,958,902   


Net cash flow for the month 1,625,434      6,097,429      1,772,450     2,344,285     3,924,977      33,861          (1,884,179)    1,971,700     (586,505)        (813,473)        (1,450,221)    (4,550,427)    


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 68,593,768    70,219,203    76,316,632   78,089,083   80,433,368    84,358,345   84,392,205    82,508,029   84,479,731    83,893,227    83,079,754    81,629,530   
Ending cash & MM 70,219,203    76,316,632    78,089,083   80,433,368   84,358,345    84,392,205   82,508,029    84,479,731   83,893,227    83,079,754    81,629,530    77,079,102   


Dedicated funds adjustment 1 (17,284,856)   (17,284,856)  (17,284,856)  (17,284,856)  (17,284,856)  (17,284,856)  (21,837,922)  (21,837,922)  (21,837,922)  (18,747,278)  (18,998,728)  (18,268,913)  


Committed funds adjustment 2 (13,168,732)   (13,168,732)  (13,168,732)  (15,711,030)  (15,711,030)  (15,711,030)  (12,155,996)  (12,155,996)  (12,155,996)  (16,506,798)  (16,506,798)  (16,506,798)  


Reserve funds adjustment 3 (6,800,000)     (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Funds 32,965,615    39,063,044    40,835,495   40,637,482   44,562,459    44,596,319   41,714,111    43,685,813   43,099,309    41,025,678    39,324,004    35,503,391   


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 5,533,972      1,806,031      1,806,724     1,693,273     1,594,696      1,595,373     1,596,029      1,513,710     1,514,031      1,514,342      1,435,944      1,436,240     


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (3,728,733)     -                     (114,182)       (99,242)         -                     -                    (82,648)          -                    -                     (78,710)          -                     -                    


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 792                 693                731                665               677                656               329                321               311                311                295                305               
Ending Escrow Balance 4


1,806,031      1,806,724      1,693,273     1,594,696     1,595,373      1,596,029     1,513,710      1,514,031     1,514,342      1,435,944      1,436,240      1,436,545     
January 2010 Net Escrow includes the closing of Goodnoe Escrow Account due to project not occuring. Funds were returned to Genearl Operating account.


1 Dedicated Funds represent funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements and may include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations and/or  master agreements.
2 Committed Funds are incentive commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project which will be applied agains the program budget when paid.
3 Cash Reserve is to cover cashflow variability and winter revenue risk
4 Included in "Ending cash & MM" above.


Actual







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2009 - December 2010
Basis:  2010 Actual & 2011 Budget


Cash In:
  Public purpose and Incremental funding


  Self Direct Repayments


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:
    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out
Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM
Ending cash & MM


Dedicated funds adjustment 1


Committed funds adjustment 2


Reserve funds adjustment 3


Ending Cash & MM, adjusted by Dedicated Fun


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances
Ending Escrow Balance 4


1 Dedicated Funds represent funds obligated or earmarked for identifie
2 Committed Funds are incentive commitments made to an electric or 
3 Cash Reserve is to cover cashflow variability and winter r
4 Included in "Ending cash & MM" above.


2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011
January February March April May June July August September October November December


14,087,152    13,196,968    12,380,686   10,906,340    10,281,571   9,688,069     10,196,102    10,466,215    9,884,945     10,012,046      10,680,331   13,377,681  


-                     -                     -                    -                     -                    -                    -                     -                     -                     -                       -                    -                    


16,667           16,667           16,667          16,667           16,667          16,667          16,667           16,667           16,667           16,667             16,667          16,663         


14,103,819    13,213,635    12,397,353   10,923,007    10,298,238   9,704,736     10,212,769    10,482,882    9,901,612     10,028,713      10,696,998   13,394,344  


3,049,838      3,171,780      3,216,974     3,219,004      3,256,596     3,258,553     3,260,022      3,357,770      3,402,887     3,404,346        3,770,231     3,770,231    


17,468,193    4,192,685      5,073,876     6,869,875      5,346,968     10,136,649   6,141,359      6,178,436      7,051,627     10,027,450      10,851,942   13,394,597  


708,387         708,387         708,387        708,387         708,387        708,387        708,387         708,387         708,387        708,387           708,387        708,387       


811,136         1,056,690      1,056,664     1,160,204      1,092,530     1,092,684     1,211,098      1,146,907      1,146,947     1,250,349        1,011,592     1,008,518    


138,245         193,124         233,958        204,631         191,968        933,961        192,046         182,880         203,310        196,673           351,881        203,108       


22,175,800    9,322,666      10,289,859   12,162,101    10,596,449   16,130,235   11,512,912    11,574,381    12,513,158   15,587,205      16,694,032   19,084,841  


(8,071,981)    3,890,969      2,107,494     (1,239,095)    (298,211)       (6,425,499)    (1,300,144)    (1,091,499)    (2,611,546)    (5,558,492)       (5,997,035)    (5,690,497)   


77,079,102    69,007,121    72,898,090   75,005,584    73,766,489   73,468,278   67,042,780    65,742,636    64,651,137   62,039,591      56,481,099   50,484,065  
69,007,121    72,898,090    75,005,584   73,766,489    73,468,278   67,042,780   65,742,636    64,651,137    62,039,591   56,481,099      50,484,065   44,793,568  


(18,106,611)  (18,708,096)  (19,239,991)  (18,730,122)  (19,463,562)  (16,016,995)  (16,633,440)  (17,344,060)  (17,620,354)  (17,154,882)    (16,759,660) (13,376,989) 


(13,761,983)  (14,200,745)  (14,645,116)  (15,043,620)  (15,907,788)  (17,313,703)  (18,044,897)  (18,802,185)  (18,627,440)  (16,254,971)    (13,281,434) (7,753,050)   


(6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)       (6,800,000)    (6,800,000)   


30,338,527    33,189,249    34,320,476   33,192,748    31,296,928   26,912,082   24,264,299    21,704,892    18,991,797   16,271,246      13,642,971   16,863,529  


1,436,545      1,338,412      1,339,248     1,340,085      1,241,892     1,242,668     1,243,445      1,145,191      1,145,907     1,146,623        1,147,340     1,148,057    


(99,000)          -                     -                    (99,000)          -                    -                    (99,000)          -                     -                     -                       -                    (99,000)        


867                837                837               807                776               777               746                716                716                717                  717               687               
1,338,412      1,339,248      1,340,085     1,241,892      1,242,668     1,243,445     1,145,191      1,145,907      1,146,623     1,147,340        1,148,057     1,049,743    


Budget 2011-B-02







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


December YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 2,804,037 3,049,516 (245,479) 34,763,224 38,093,593 (3,330,369)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,744,221 1,804,652 (60,430) 21,529,502 21,295,899 233,603


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 1,567,627 1,667,597 (99,970) 24,376,029 23,699,999 676,030


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 279,409 236,743 42,666 1,442,280 1,999,322 (557,042)


Public Purpose Funds-Avista 0 0 0 0 (11,547) 11,547


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
Total Public Purpose Funds 6,395,295 6,758,508 (363,213) 82,111,035 85,077,265 (2,966,230)


Incremental Funds - PGE 2,186,423 1,725,809 460,614 22,034,356 20,391,504 1,642,853


Incremental Funds - PacifiCorp 1,661,058 1,657,949 3,109 18,988,967 19,658,167 (669,200)


NW Natural - Industrial DSM 145,833 145,833 (0) 1,581,411 1,608,333 (26,922)


NW Natural - Washington 0 (32,099) 32,099 990,416 423,501 566,915


Special Projects - Clackamas County 950 0 950 950 0 950


Contributions 0 0 0 1,085 0 1,085


Revenue from Investments 69,492 3,707 65,785 417,893 117,971 299,922
----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 10,459,051 10,259,708 199,344 126,126,112 127,276,741 (1,150,629)
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 3,053,608 3,142,465 88,857 34,855,334 36,719,112 1,863,778


Incentives 20,778,970 18,869,383 (1,909,587) 71,644,081 87,177,264 15,533,183


Salaries and Related Expenses 517,457 643,463 126,007 6,969,976 7,719,962 749,986


Professional Services 811,136 1,144,713 333,576 7,842,821 12,535,419 4,692,598


Supplies 3,268 6,522 3,254 42,863 76,600 33,737


Telephone 2,685 6,658 3,973 32,538 80,400 47,862


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,375 3,458 2,083 13,200 41,500 28,300


Occupancy Expenses 38,738 29,870 (8,868) 417,207 462,587 45,380


Noncapitalized Equip. & Depr. 25,359 113,969 88,610 351,137 654,469 303,332


Call Center 17,052 18,815 1,763 178,292 208,000 29,708


Printing and Publications 5,526 21,958 16,432 96,804 227,500 130,696


Travel 9,366 18,517 9,151 113,896 212,709 98,814


Conference, Training & Mtng Exp 12,641 27,878 15,237 159,147 378,136 218,989


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 0 0 5,000 0 (5,000)


Insurance 8,152 7,500 (652) 79,938 90,000 10,062


Miscellaneous Expenses 6,343 215 (6,128) 22,242 2,575 (19,667)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 15,321 11,092 (4,229) 120,499 131,930 11,431


----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- -----------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 25,306,999 24,066,478 (1,240,521) 122,944,973 146,718,164 23,773,191


============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (14,847,948) (13,806,770) (1,041,178) 3,181,139 (19,441,422) 22,622,562
============= ============= ============= ============= ============= =============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010


Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communications & Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General Customer Service Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 89,777,278 16,722,137 106,499,415 0 106,499,415
Payroll and Related Expenses 1,616,129 864,356 2,480,485 1,587,705 461,250 2,048,955 4,529,440
Outsourced Services 4,079,902 816,498 4,896,400 245,581 974,296 1,219,877 6,116,277
Planning and Evaluation 1,361,118 202,493 1,563,611 28,211 19,767 47,978 1,611,589
Customer Service Management 780,434 77,837 858,271 0 858,271
Trade Allies Network 333,311 34,339 367,650 0 367,650


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
Total Program Expenses 97,948,173 18,717,660 116,665,833 1,861,496 1,455,313 3,316,809 119,982,642


Program Support Costs


Supplies 10,140 4,798 14,938 8,597 3,449 12,046 26,984
Postage and Shipping Expenses 2,915 1,416 4,331 3,040 890 3,930 8,261
Telephone 4,178 2,211 6,389 3,309 892 4,201 10,590
Printing and Publications 54,568 12,000 66,568 4,351 14,820 19,171 85,739
Occupancy Expenses 103,298 50,188 153,486 78,813 31,554 110,367 263,853
Insurance 19,818 9,629 29,447 15,120 6,054 21,174 50,621
Equipment 3,010 45,743 48,753 2,297 2,694 4,991 53,744
Travel 31,638 25,939 57,577 24,513 1,041 25,554 83,131
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 21,641 12,206 33,847 80,313 3,257 83,570 117,417
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 5,000 5,000 5,000
Depreciation & Amortization 4,553 20,250 24,803 3,474 1,391 4,865 29,668
Dues, Licenses and Fees 62,690 30,689 93,379 9,671 5,262 14,933 108,312
Miscellaneous Expenses 13,353 6,625 19,978 178 34 212 20,190
IT Services 1,376,656 206,496 1,583,152 366,328 149,340 515,668 2,098,820


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 1,708,459 428,189 2,136,648 605,004 220,678 825,682 2,962,330


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- --------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 99,656,643 19,145,851 118,802,494 2,466,501 1,675,993 4,142,494 122,944,973


============== ============== ============== ============== =============== ============== ==============


OPUC measure, versus 11% 5% Exp-Acct-YTD-002







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Year to Date by Program/Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL


PGE PacifiCorp Total
NWN 


Industrial NW Natural Cascade Avista
Oregon 


Total NWN WA ETO Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $27,065,764 $16,538,516 $43,604,280 $24,376,029 $1,442,280 $69,422,589 $69,422,589 $7,697,460 $4,990,986 $12,688,446 $82,111,035
Incremental Funding 22,034,356 18,988,967 41,023,323 1,581,411 42,604,734 990,416 43,595,150 43,595,150
Contributions 1,085 1,085
Special Projects 390 390 561 951 951 951
Revenue from Investments 417,893 417,893


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 49,100,510 35,527,483 84,627,993 1,581,411 24,376,590 1,442,280 112,028,274 990,416 113,018,690 7,697,460 4,990,986 12,688,446 418,978 126,126,114


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 1,814,917 1,148,922 2,963,839 34,213 809,138 53,894 3,861,083 87,285 3,948,368 449,911 416,945 866,856 4,815,224
  Program Delivery 14,805,588 9,849,279 24,654,867 383,324 3,666,292 372,468 29,076,951 125,465 29,202,416 138,704 145,756 284,460 29,486,876
  Incentives 26,664,747 18,005,869 44,670,616 840,956 8,636,994 718,403 54,866,969 341,935 55,208,904 9,661,237 6,773,940 16,435,177 71,644,081
  Program Eval & Planning Svcs. 1,414,885 962,289 2,377,174 27,191 456,979 38,500 2,899,844 22,179 2,922,023 119,722 112,209 231,931 3,153,954
  Program Marketing/Outreach 1,946,890 1,263,251 3,210,141 6,083 991,788 69,467 4,277,479 26,897 4,304,376 72,651 40,555 113,206 4,417,582
  Program Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 66 66 0 0 0 66
  Program Quality Assurance 39,075 28,517 67,592 0 42,532 2,127 112,251 0 112,251 2,922 8,327 11,249 123,500
  Outsourced  Services 501,436 290,106 791,542 2,394 334,983 7,114 1,136,032 0 1,136,032 391,375 271,233 662,608 1,798,640
  Trade Allies & Cust. Svc. Mgmt. 461,316 298,516 759,833 4,442 295,556 18,128 1,077,959 35,788 1,113,747 72,067 40,109 112,176 1,225,923
  IT Services 613,726 410,677 1,024,403 11,357 289,958 21,080 1,346,798 29,859 1,376,657 107,266 99,230 206,496 1,583,153
  Other Program Expenses 141,713 97,391 239,104 3,854 59,675 4,484 307,117 24,686 331,803 131,104 90,588 221,692 553,495


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- --- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 48,404,293 32,354,816 80,759,109 1,313,813 15,583,895 1,305,665 98,962,483 694,160 99,656,643 11,146,959 7,998,892 19,145,851 118,802,494


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- --- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Notes 1 & 2) 1,003,798 670,910 1,674,708 27,285 323,379 27,104 2,052,475 14,424 2,066,899 229,490 168,317 397,807 1,795 2,466,501
  Communications & Customer Svc (Notes 1 & 2) 682,579 456,217 1,138,796 18,553 219,896 18,431 1,395,676 9,809 1,405,485 156,053 114,455 270,508 1,675,993


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- --- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
Total Administrative Costs 1,686,377 1,127,126 2,813,503 45,838 543,275 45,535 3,448,151 24,233 3,472,384 385,543 282,772 668,315 1,795 4,142,494


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- --- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 50,090,667 33,481,940 83,572,607 1,359,650 16,127,167 1,351,199 102,410,623 718,388 103,129,011 11,532,504 8,281,661 19,814,165 1,795 122,944,973


------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------- --- ------------------ -------------- ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ------------------ ---------------- -------------------
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (990,157) 2,045,543 1,055,386 221,761 8,249,423 91,081 9,617,651 272,028 9,889,679 (3,835,044) (3,290,675) (7,125,719) 417,183 3,181,139


========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ========= ====== ========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========== ========= ===========
Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/09 (Note 4) 15,974,053 (3,722,624) 12,251,429 583,282 (2,370,484) 435,084 25,458 10,924,769 402,975 11,327,744 25,411,648 11,987,317 37,398,965 9,902,055 58,628,764
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 5,000,000 7,900,000 7,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (9,600,000)
Interest re-attributed (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) (1,740,000) 1,740,000


========== ========== ========== =========== ========== ========= ====== ========== ======= ========== ========= ========= ========== ========= ===========
TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 14,983,896 (517,081) 14,466,815 805,043 10,878,939 526,165 25,458 26,702,420 675,003 27,377,423 21,576,604 10,396,642 31,973,246 2,459,238 61,809,903


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communications & Customer Service Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2009 reflects audited results.







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Expense by Service Territorty


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


PGE
Pacific 
Power


Subtotal Elec. 
Utilities


NWN 
Industrial


NW Natural 
Gas Cascade


Subtotal Gas 
Providers Oregon Total


NWN 
WA Other ETO Total


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 15,059,305 6,696,305 21,755,610 460,382 3,554,393 323,376 4,338,151 26,093,761 311,460 26,405,221
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 4,973,162 5,352,517 10,325,679 2,446,300 271,856 2,718,156 13,043,835 13,043,835
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,200,598 905,713 2,106,311 0 2,106,311 2,106,311


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------
  Total Commercial 21,233,065 12,954,535 34,187,600 460,382 6,000,693 595,232 7,056,307 41,243,907 311,460 41,555,367


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 10,513,783 7,676,773 18,190,556 899,268 241,719 110,963 1,251,950 19,442,506 19,442,506
Market Transformation (NEEA) 333,150 251,323 584,473 0 584,473 584,473


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------
  Total Industrial 10,846,933 7,928,096 18,775,029 899,268 241,719 110,963 1,251,950 20,026,979 20,026,979


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 7,082,928 5,193,033 12,275,961 7,990,945 393,521 8,384,466 20,660,427 312,762 20,973,189
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 9,057,992 5,995,763 15,053,755 1,893,810 251,483 2,145,293 17,199,048 94,166 17,293,214
Market Transformation (NEEA) 1,869,749 1,410,513 3,280,262 0 3,280,262 3,280,262


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------
  Total Residential 18,010,669 12,599,309 30,609,978 9,884,755 645,004 10,529,759 41,139,737 406,928 41,546,665


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------
  Energy Efficiency Program Costs 50,090,667 33,481,940 83,572,607 1,359,650 16,127,167 1,351,199 18,838,016 102,410,623 718,388 103,129,011


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------


Renewables


Biopower 379,864 698,134 1,077,998 1,077,998 1,077,998
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 7,924,016 4,266,466 12,190,482 12,190,482 12,190,482
Other Renewable 3,228,624 3,317,061 6,545,685 6,545,685 6,545,685


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------
  Renewables Program Costs 11,532,504 8,281,661 19,814,165 19,814,165 19,814,165


---------------------------------- ------------------- --------------- ----------------- ------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------- --------------- ------------------


Non Program Related Expense 1,795 1 1,795


========= ========== =========== ======== ========== ======= ========== ========== ======= ======== ==========
  Cost Grand Total 61,623,171 41,763,601 103,386,772 1,359,650 16,127,167 1,351,199 18,838,016 122,224,788 718,388 1,795 122,944,973


======== ========== ========== ======== ========= ======= ========== ========== ======= ======== ==========


1 Expenses not paid with ratepayer funds.


PUC-Proj-ST-07-C







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Three Months and Year to Date Ended December 31, 2010
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & CUSTOMER SERVICE
QUARTER YTD QUARTER YTD


ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $48,878 $144,888 $96,011 $237,264 $526,853 $289,590 $426,910 $217,704 ($209,206) $974,296 $890,816 ($83,480)


Legal Services 3,061 16,250 13,189 8,317 65,000 56,683


Salaries and Related Expenses 378,337 430,010 51,673 1,587,705 1,719,260 131,555 112,550 137,311 24,762 461,250 549,246 87,995


Supplies 1,125 1,125 1,162 4,500 3,338 750 750 472 3,000 2,528


Telephone 240 900 660 1,175 4,100 2,925 38 (38)


Postage and Shipping Expenses 750 750 816 3,000 2,184 2,500 2,500 10,000 10,000


Noncapitalized Equipment 500 500 1,774 2,000 226


Printing and Publications 153 125 (28) 350 500 150 2,248 6,250 4,002 13,218 25,000 11,782


Travel 6,636 8,270 1,634 24,513 33,080 8,567 74 2,500 2,426 1,041 10,000 8,959


Conference, Training & Mtngs 14,182 30,023 15,840 80,246 120,091 39,845 (1,382) 3,250 4,632 3,230 13,000 9,770


Interest Expense and Bank Fees 5,000 (5,000)


Miscellaneous Expenses 22 19 (3) 92 75 (17)


Dues, Licenses and Fees (861) 2,669 3,529 9,301 9,495 194 2,273 2,500 227 5,113 10,000 4,887


Shared Allocation (Note 1) 30,154 30,941 787 116,022 136,953 20,932 12,354 13,202 848 46,450 58,435 11,985


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 92,519 158,637 66,118 366,328 608,686 242,358 37,717 64,671 26,954 149,340 248,142 98,802


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 8,177 9,596 1,419 28,211 37,887 9,677 5,729 6,750 1,021 19,767 26,650 6,883


--------------- ---------------- ------------------ --------------- ---------------- ------------------ --------------- ---------------- ------------------ --------------- ---------------- ------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 581,497 834,203 252,705 2,466,501 3,269,480 802,980 598,473 457,888 (140,585) 1,675,993 1,846,288 170,297


========= ========= =========== ========= ========= =========== ========= ========= =========== ========= ========= ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Exp-Prog-YTD-003







$-


$20 


$40 


$60 


$80 


$100 


$120 


$140 


$160 


Jan Feb Mar Apr MayJune July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr MayJune July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$20


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


$90
$100 


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


$-


$20 


$40 


$60 


$80 


$100 


$120 


$140 


$160 


Jan Feb Mar Apr MayJune July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-


$5 


$10 


$15 


$20 


$25 


Jan Feb Mar Apr MayJune July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2010


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


$-
$2 
$4 
$6 
$8 


$10 
$12 
$14 
$16 
$18 
$20 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2010


Budget


Actual


Last Yr


$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 


$100 


Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec


(in
 m


ill
io


ns
)


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2010


Budget
Actual
Last Yr








 
 
 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated March 19, 2011 
 
Administrative Costs 
Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, have general objectives which enable an 
organization’s programs to function.  The organization’s programs in turn provide direct services 
to the organization’s constituents and fulfill the mission of the organization.  
i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach expenses 
 


I. Management and General  
• Includes governance/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, 


payroll, human resources, general legal support, and other general 
organizational management costs. 


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
II. General Communications and Outreach   


• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the 
organization and general public awareness.  


• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based 


upon an allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the 
pool.  


• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for 
accounting efficiency purposes. 


• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer 
management (call center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, 
complaint tracking, etc). The accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that 
benefited by using the ratio of calls into the call center by program (i.e. the allocation 
base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits and taxes. 
• Office operations.  Includes rent, telephone, utilities, supplies, etc.  
• Information Technology (IT) services. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for gas utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the 


board of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, 
and certifying that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding 
specific items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified 
opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements 
present an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s 
financial records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a 
qualified opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in 


their annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a 


designated category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward 
for expenditure to the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied 
against the cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked 


by program. 
 


Commitments 
• Represents funds obligated to identified efficiency program participants in the form of 


signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system. 
• If the project is not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed 


funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 
• Funds are expensed when the project is completed. 
• Funds may be held in the operating cash account, or in escrow accounts. 


 
Contract obligations  


• A signed contract for goods or services that creates a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Contract Status Summary Report. 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from 


both a utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and 


societal cost of energy.  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


3 


• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program 
costs plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 


 
Dedicated Funds 


• Represents funds obligated to identified renewable program participants in the form of 
signed applications or agreements and tracked in the project forecasting system.  


• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 
• Methodology utilized to develop renewable energy activity-based budgets amounts. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual 
program/project; or can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, 
cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total 


program funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining 


program funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a 


cost pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate bank account that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned 
to Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still 
“owned” by Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred 
out of the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the 
income statement for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have 
been received or earned within the month or year.  
 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive 
payments, with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy 
savings, incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or 
application has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be 
documented by programs using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has 
received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that 
have reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive 
dollars until project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion 
date by project and by service territory must be documented in project records and in 
FastTrack. If project not demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, 
committed funds return to incentive pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Dedicated-Renewable project that has been committed, has a signed agreement, and if 
required, has been approved by the board of directors.  


 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for 


payment for utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy 
efficiency and renewable energy measures in the homes or apartments of such 
residential customers. 
 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as 


defined above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable 
energy measure. 


• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 
 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the 


final cost to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or 
renewable energy measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home 
reviews and technical analysis studies. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency 
practices proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or 
high efficiency lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of 


services and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC 
diagnosis, air filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning 


individual charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions based on a standard basis such 


as hours worked, square footage, customer phone calls, etc. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and 


depreciation. 
 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking 


support of PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Includes technical architecture design and physical infrastructure. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units. 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Expenditures made to fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists 


and are authorized through the program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, 


quality assurance, program-specific marketing and other costs incurred solely for 
program purposes. 


• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 
 


Program Delivery Expense  
• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, 


program coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program 
delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management 


contractors under contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer 


maintenance and general renewable energy consulting. 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a 


program-specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff 


management, etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual 


programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit 


to the public. 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a 


particular program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support 


costs. 
 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following 


categories:  supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; 
occupancy expenses; insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; 
conferences and training; depreciation and amortization; dues, licenses, 
subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll & related expense; 
outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology department 
cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, 
Travel, Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data 
entry by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on 
deemed savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for 
custom measures.  They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and 
distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used 
for public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution 
factors, evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working 
values. These values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during 
the “true-up” as a result of new information or identified errors. 
  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings 
at the time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to 
arrive at this number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is 
agreed to at the beginning of the contract year and is applied to all program measures. 
 This is based on the sum of the adjustments between working and reportable numbers 
in the forecast developed for the program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more 
accurate savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These 
factors are determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. 
The factors are determined based on the best available information from: 


 Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over 
effects and measure impacts to date; and  


 Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from 
electric measure savings.  


 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations, levelized cost calculations and in 
management reports used to track funds spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration 
costs to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of 


administration (management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for 


nonprofits, administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade 
ally network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies 
associated with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as 
call center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center 
per month. 


  







Financial Glossary updated 03/19/2011 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how 


much energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic 
performance and our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data 
factor), anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of 
similar programs have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual 
evaluations of the program and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up 
Report (for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 
years, especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the 
savings are updated through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 


 
 


 


Briefing Paper 
Legislation Update 
March 30, 2011 


Summary 
The paper brings you developments in the 2011 legislature since our last report.


Background 
• The legislative session began in January and is expected to adjourn in June. 


• We last reported on legislation at the February 9 strategic utility roundtable. 


• Pursuant to our grant agreement with the OPUC, Energy Trust does not take positions 
on legislation or engage in political issues. We do provide information to legislators on 
request, in coordination with the OPUC. 


Discussion 
 


Two bills affecting the public-purpose charge have been introduced since the last time we 
reported:  


• SB 673, introduced by Senator Beyer, would allow utilities to collect public purpose 
charges from large users (over 1 aMW). 


• HB 3587 would sunset the 3% public purpose charge in October of this year. This bill is 
sponsored by Representative Witt, Senator Johnson; Representative Krieger, Senators 
Telfer, Verger and Whitsett at the request of John Charles, Cascade Policy Institute.  
 


Other developments:  


• SB 57 would authorize the Oregon Business Development Commission to use revenue 
bonds to finance economic electric energy projects, primarily on-site renewable projects. 
The Senate Committee on Business, Transportation, and Economic Development 
unanimously recommended passage (Feb. 22). 


• HB 3582 would extend the sunset date for the business energy tax credit to 2022. The 
bill is sponsored by Rep. Schaufler, and has been referred to the committee process 
dealing with tax credits. SB 688 would extend RETC to 2018. 


• HB 3535, introduced by Representatives Witt and Holvey, would: require an energy-
performance rating system and disclosure at time of sale; abate taxes for high-
performance buildings; require utilities to prioritize efficiency in planning; and provide 
innovative financing for energy conservation in schools. 


 


 


 








 


 
 
 
Board Meeting Minutes – 103rd Meeting 
February 9, 2011 
 
Board members present:  Dan Davis, Jason Eisdorfer, Dan Enloe, Julie Hammond, Al 
Jubitz (joining by teleconference), Debbie Kitchin, John Klosterman (joining by 
teleconference) Alan Meyer, Bob Repine (ODOE special advisor), and John Reynolds  
 
Board members absent: Rick Applegate, Julie Brandis, Roger Hamilton, Caddy McKeown 
and John Savage (ex officio)  
 
Staff attending: Pete Catching, Amber Cole, Cheryle Easton, Fred Gordon, Hannah Hacker, 
Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Sue Meyer Sample, John Volkman, Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Jim Abrahamson, Cascade Natural Gas, Janet Schaeffer 
 
 
Business Meeting 


President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 1:30 pm.  
 
 
General Public Comment 
 
There was none.  
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
MOTION: Approve Consent Agenda. John Reynolds noted the Consent Agenda consisted 
of minutes from the December meeting and an amendment to the Contract Execution Policy.  
 
 
There were two proposed corrections to the minutes on page one to read as follows: 


1. Business Meeting 
Secretary Debbie Kitchin called the meeting to order… 


 
2. Consent Agenda 


MOTION:  Approve Consent Agenda.  Debbie Kitchin noted the Consent Agenda … 
 


There was one proposed amendment to the Contract Execution and Oversight Policy, 
Section 6, was amended to read as follows: 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
2


Not less often than annually, staff shall report to the Policy Committee all … 
 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Dan Davis 


Vote: In favor: 9   Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Consent agenda adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
December 17, 2010, meeting minutes with corrections was adopted as part of the 
Consent Agenda 


RESOLUTION 575 
AMENDING CONTRACT EXECUTION POLICY 


WHEREAS: 


1. Board approval is required for any Energy Trust contract, incentive or program cap over 
$500,000. 


2. During development of the 2011 budget, staff asked if the current board policy authorizing 
the executive director to sign contracts involving less than $500,000 adequately covers 
situations in which Energy Trust pays more than $500,000 to a contractor under two or 
more contracts that are individually under $500,000. 


3. The Board’s Policy Committee has discussed the current policy and proposes 
amendments clarifying that the executive director should report instances in which 
contractor payments cumulatively exceed $500,000, while confirming the executive 
director’s authority to sign contracts involving less than $500,000. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.: 


Amends the board policy on contract execution authority as shown in Attachment 
1, to require reporting on instances in which a contractor receives more than 
$500,000 in Energy Trust funding per year under separate contracts, and confirm 
that the executive director has authority to sign all contracts involving $500,000 or 
less. 


 
Attachment 1 to the 5.05.009-P Contract Execution and Oversight Policy  


 
Purpose:  The Energy Trust Board of Directors has delegated to the Executive Director 
authority to execute all contracts on behalf of the organization consistent with the bylaws, 
PUC grant agreement and governing law. This policy regulates the implementation of this 
authority. 
 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
3


Policy: 
1. All contracts shall be consistent with the bylaws, PUC grant agreement and governing 


law. 
2. The Energy Trust legal department shall review as to form all contracts before submitting 


them to the Executive Director. 
3. Contracts over the amount of $500,000:   


• No contract will be executed unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and 
approved its basic terms.  


• When it approves basic contract terms, the Board may instruct the Executive Director 
to bring a final contract back to the Board for review and approval before the contract 
is executed. 


• The Executive Director shall not execute contract amendments that make major 
changes in contract terms (e.g., more than 10% change in funds obligated, more than 
20% change in energy saved or produced, time by which savings will be achieved) 
unless the Board of Directors has first reviewed and approved the basic terms of the 
change. 


4. Contracts under $500,000: The Executive Director or, if the Executive Director is 
unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by the Executive 
Director, is authorized to execute contracts involving less than $500,000 without Board 
review or approval of basic terms. This authority includes instances in which two or more 
contracts involving less than $500,000 with a single contractor exceed $500,000 in the 
aggregate. 


5. For programs managed directly by Energy Trust staff, incentive agreements that involve 
less than $500,000, and are processed in accordance with standardized program forms 
and procedures that have been reviewed by the legal department may be approved by 
the relevant department director or management-level staff designated by the department 
director. This authority includes instances in which multiple incentive payments to a 
participant or contractor, processed in accordance with standardized program forms and 
procedures, exceed $500,000 in the aggregate. 


6. Not less often than annually, staff shall report to the [Policy/[DELETE Finance] Committee 
all instances in which Energy Trust has paid more than $500,000 to an individual 
contractor in a given calendar year.  


7. Staff and in-house contractor employment agreements:  The Executive Director or, if the 
Executive Director is unavailable, the General Counsel or corporate officer designated by 
the Executive Director, may execute staff and in-house contractor employment 
agreements without Board review or approval of basic terms. 


8. Contracts not involving a dollar expenditure may be signed by the relevant director or 
his/her designated manager(s). 


9. The Executive Director shall maintain contract records required for an independent audit. 
 


 
Resolution 575, amending Contract Execution Policy with correction to Section 6 was 
adopted as part of the Consent Agenda.  


 
 


 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
4


Nominating Committee 
 
Alan Meyer, Nominating Committee Chair, introduced these resolutions.  
 
Resolution 573, electing Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, and John Klosterman to new 
terms on the Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 


RESOLUTION 573 
 ELECTING DAN ENLOE, ROGER HAMILTON, AND JOHN KLOSTERMAN 


TO NEW TERMS ON THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 


WHEREAS: 


1. The terms of incumbent board members Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, and John Klosterman 
expire in 2011. 


2. The board nominating committee has recommended that these members’ terms be 
renewed 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Dan Enloe, Roger 
Hamilton, and John Klosterman incumbent board members, to new terms of office that 
begin in 2011 and end in 2014. 


 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Julie Hammond 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 


 
 
Resolution 574, electing officers of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.  


RESOLUTION 574 
ELECTING OFFICERS OF 


ENERGY TRUST OF OREGON, INC. 
 


WHEREAS: 


1. Officers of the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. (other than the Executive 
Director and a Chief Financial Officer) are elected by the Board of 
Directors at the board’s annual meeting.  







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
5


2. The Board of Directors nominating committee has nominated the 
following directors to renew their terms as officers: 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Vice President 
• Caddy McKeown, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby elects the following as officers of 
Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., for 2011: 


• John Reynolds, President 
• Debbie Kitchin, Vice President 
• Caddy McKeown, Secretary 
• John Klosterman, Treasurer 
 


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Julie Hammond 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
 
Resolution 576, electing Jeff King to the Energy Trust Board of Directors  
 
Alan said Al Jubitz decided not to seek a new three-year term. Jeff King, who just retired from 
the Northwest Power Planning and Conservation Council, has agreed to serve.  


RESOLUTION 576 
 ELECTING JEFF KING TO THE ENERGY TRUST BOARD OF DIRECTORS 


 


WHEREAS: 


1. Al Jubitz is not seeking to renew his term on the Energy Trust board, 
which expires in February 2011.   


2. The board nominating committee has reviewed candidates for the 
open board seat and recommends Jeff King, most recently the 
Senior Resource Analyst for the Northwest Power and Conservation 
Council.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


That the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors elects Jeff 
King to a three-year term on the Energy Trust Board of Directors, until 
February 2014. 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
6


Moved by: Alan Meyer Seconded by: Debbie Kitchin 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Jeff expressed gratitude for the nomination. John and others thanked Al Jubitz for his years of 
service. Margie said we will want to honor Al when he returns. Al thanked everybody at 
Energy Trust. He said he has never been on a board with people who have such integrity.  
 
Al Jubitz left the meeting. 
 
President’s Report 
 
John introduced Margie Harris who with help from Fred Gordon and Pete Catching, prepared 
a presentation on his behalf on the topic of energy efficiency achievements in Vermont vs 
Oregon. Margie showed a slide depicting Efficiency Vermont (EV) capturing more energy 
efficiency as a percentage of load than we are—9 percent for Vermont vs 7.6 percent for 
Oregon. The source is the Center for Environment and Policy.  
 
Some factors contributing to the differences include:  
• Vermont has higher avoided costs (13 cents vs 8 cents) 
• Vermont has very little gas and electric heating, with more diversity of fuel sources which 


include propane, oil and wood heating 
• The Vermont Public Service Commission ordered Efficiency Vermont to quickly reduce 


demand in targeted areas to avoid T&D and systems costs, based on a law we do not 
have in place here 
 


Savings were derived from a one-time focused lighting initiative to quickly reduce load for 
which Efficiency Vermont paid the full cost of lighting retrofits 
• By contrast, Energy Trust lighting investments are designed to be long-term and ongoing 


since implementing this lighting initiative, Efficiency Vermont’s savings appear to be 
dropping, after appearing to peak at 16 aMW in 2008. Energy Trust lighting savings are 
on a path of growth.  


 
Some additional distinctions between marks and program strategies include having a larger 
industrial base in Oregon and different grid configurations which point Vermont more in the 
direction of reducing T&D load as a higher priority than what we do here.  
 
Debbie Kitchin noted the long life of investments we make in older buildings here given our 
historically low energy costs.  
 
Jason asked if Vermont is missing other opportunities. Fred said they have a robust program, 
much like ours; the main difference was the accelerated emphasis in lighting.  







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
7


 
Fred also noted Efficiency Vermont has a larger staff (approximately 175) and markets to 
much smaller businesses in largely smaller towns and rural communities.  
 
 
Resolution 578, board committee appointments. John Reynolds introduced the resolution.  


 


RESOLUTION 578 
BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to appoint by 
resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 


2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on the following 
committees. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby appoints the following directors to the following 
committees for terms that will continue until a subsequent resolution changing 
committee appointments is adopted: 


 
 


 
Audit Committee  
 Julie Hammond, Chair 
 Caddy McKeown 
 Julie Brandis 
 Shirley Cyr, CEWO 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Board Nominating Committee 
 Alan Meyer, Chair 
 Caddy McKeown 
 Rick Applegate 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 
 John Klosterman, Chair 
 Dan Davis 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Executive Director Review Committee 
 Caddy McKeown, Chair 
 Roger Hamilton 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
8


 
Finance Committee 
 John Klosterman, Chair 
 Dan Enloe 
 Debbie Kitchin 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Policy Committee 
 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 
 Rick Applegate 
 Roger Hamilton 
 Caddy McKeown 
 Alan Meyer 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 
Program Evaluation Committee 
 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 
 Dan Davis 
 Tom Eckman, NWPCC 
 Dan Enloe 
 Ken Keating, expert outside reviewer 
 Alan Meyer 
 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 
Strategic Planning Committee   
 Rick Applegate, Chair 
 Jason Eisdorfer 
 Bob Repine, ODOE 
 John Savage, OPUC 
 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


2. The executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if authorized by the 
Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by: Debbie Kitchin Seconded by: Dan Enloe 


Vote: In favor: 9 Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Resolution 577, authorize Executive Director to negotiate favorable building office 
space lease terms. John Reynolds said this was the subject of the board’s executive session 
earlier today. Two minor clarifications were suggested to the first “resolved.” 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
9


RESOLUTION 577 


AUTHORIZE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TO NEGOTIATE FAVORABLE BUILDING OFFICE 
SPACE LEASE TERMS 


WHEREAS: 


1. Energy Trust’s current building lease expires December 31, 2011. 


2. Energy Trust has conducted a transparent and competitive process to identify and 
evaluate potential office space locations. 


3. Comparative space planning, test-fits and pricing data have been received.  


4. To maintain Energy Trust’s ability to negotiate favorable terms, the board authorizes the 
executive director to complete negotiations within certain parameters.  


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


The Board authorizes the Executive Director to negotiate and sign a lease consistent with 
the following terms: 


a. Average occupancy cost per square foot may not exceed $25.00 per year  
b. Secure a minimum of 31,200 square feet of space  
c. Pay no more than $720,000 per year in lease costs 
d. Pay no more than $840,000 per year in total average occupancy costs, 


including lease costs and tenant improvements, relocation and other costs 
e. Secure a lease term between seven and eight years 


 
• In addition, the negotiations will seek to: 


o Minimize the cost of tenant improvements 
o Maximize flexibility related to both current and future space requirements 
o Enhance productivity and efficiency of staff functions and foster 


teamwork 
o Provide daylighting  
o Demonstrate the value and cost-effectiveness of efficiency measures 


that Energy Trust encourages other businesses to undertake 
 


• The Executive Director will obtain review by the Board Finance Committee of 
the specific lease terms prior to signing a lease 


 


Moved by: Julie Hammond Seconded by: Dan Davis 


Vote: In favor: 8 Abstained: 1 (John Klosterman abstained 
because he was not able to participate 
in the Executive Session) 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on February 9, 2011, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
10


 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Policy Committee. Jason Eisdorfer said the notes in the packet were discussed at the last 
board meeting.  
 
Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin reported the committee reviewed the “Path to Net 
Zero” pilot evaluation. The pilot’s aim is to support buildings in achieving usage equal to or 
less than 50 percent of usage if built to code. The approach included early design assistance 
(design charettes), technical assistance for modeling and energy studies, incentives for 
installation and commissioning, and monitoring and reporting. She noted many of the 
buildings being completed are public sector projects, reflecting the economy.  
 
Debbie also noted the committee also reviewed evaluations of Solarize Southeast Portland 
and the Solar Energy Review. Staff is looking for alternatives to the site reviews, which 
proved expensive in light of the numbers of homeowners following through. 
 
The next packet will include evaluations reviewed on January 28.  
 
Alan Meyer noted it would be good to schedule committee meetings enough in advance of 
the board meeting to be able to include notes from those meetings in the packets. Debbie 
Kitchin will work toward this. Dan Davis suggested starting those meetings at noon or 1 pm 
rather than 10 am. Staff agreed to accommodate this request whenever possible. 
 
Finance/Compensation Committee. John Klosterman said the Finance Committee has not 
met since the last board meeting. They are set to meet March 14. The packet includes 
unaudited November financials. The December financials will go the committee in the middle 
of this month.  
 
Alan expressed surprise at seeing the November financials in February. He asked about the 
line called “investments.” Sue Sample said these are short-term investments such as 
CDARS, required to be displayed this way by GAAP accounting standards.  
 
Board members and Sue discussed some changes to be pursued by the Finance Committee 
regarding how dedicated funds and contract commitments will be shown. 
 
John gave an update on the Compensation Committee, which met January 11. The first item 
was a 401k plan check in as recommended by The Standard. The Committee will also review   
our investment policy and consider adopting The Standard’s simpler approach.  
 
The Committee also clarified responsibilities for 401k plan trustees and administrators, and 
The Standard’s fee structure. 
 
John reported some changes in green investment funds that were communicated to staff. 
Dan Enloe asked how the green funds were performing. John said they were 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
11


underperforming. The committee dropped two and added another. The universe of green 
investment options is smaller and they do not always align well with our investment policy and 
requirements.  
 
Staff Report 
 
Margie noted the market indicators quarterly report in the packet.  
 
Regarding the staff report, she is taking a new approach that includes a few slides to share at 
each board meeting. This is intended to strike a balance between the detailed report we used 
to create and strictly verbal information provided at the end of board meetings during the last 
year. She invited feedback on the new approach. 
 
Margie provided details about preliminary 2010 year-end results and included results by 
utility. 
 


Preliminary results by utility* 
Utility 2010 Actual 2010 Budget % of 2010 


Stretch 
2009 Actual % Growth 


over 2009
PGE 24.96 27.14 92% 20.35 23% 
Pacific Power 19.55 17.84 110% 11.97 63% 
Cascade Natural Gas 366,596 473,347 77% 253,182 45% 
NW Natural 4,208,263 4,325,847 97% 2,599,187 41% 


  *Includes market transformation/NEEA 
 
Margie identified marketing and no and low-cost behavior change oriented activities that 
resulted in significant Q4 savings results. These included the Free Your Home campaign,  
promoting energy saver kits and residential energy saving actions. Other activity included 
replacing steam traps and HVAC tune-ups in schools in Cascade territory, lighting bonuses 
for common areas in multifamily buildings and a lighting bonus for upgrades from T12 to T8 
lighting. The Path to Net Zero pilot is fully committed with some of the nation’s more 
aggressive new buildings underway. 
 
Margie showed a sample OPower letter, kicking off the residential behavioral change pilot, 
the first in the nation to combine both gas and electric heating customers from two utilities. 
She noted that call volumes reached a record high of 5,269 in January. Julie Hammond 
asked if the calls were related to recent utility rate increases. Though not specifically known, 
there has been a correlation in the past. Margie said she has learned the new IT system will 
be capable of tracking the correlation between marketing activity and other events such as 
rate increases with call volume and website visits. She noted several larger solar electric 
installations received incentives in January, two of which are Intel projects.  
 
Margie’s last slide referenced a handbook written by the International Energy Agency titled 
Energy Efficiency Governance, in which numerous positive references are made to Energy 
Trust. An electronic copy will be distributed. 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
12


 
Lastly, Margie referred to a briefing paper updating the board on the Integrated Solutions 
effort. Epicor assigned a new project manager, installed software onto the Energy Trust 
infrastructure, and began implementation of its signature methodology. She noted we are 
working with Hitachi Consulting on a business data structure review. Though we are well 
within budget, we are about one month behind on schedule. Debbie requested schedule and 
budget updates to be presented in writing which staff will gladly do going forward.  
 
Jason asked about the status of the Secretary of State’s performance audit. Margie said we 
have two audits underway currently, one with the Employment Division, which is continuing. 
The performance audit, conducted by the Secretary of State’s office, has concluded an initial 
round of interviews and we expect to learn soon if we will be part of a deeper audit. Agencies 
administering other parts of the public purpose fund are also part of the same performance 
audit.  
 
Margie asked for feedback on the format of this staff report. There was a general sense of 
satisfaction.  
 
Debbie Kitchin asked about an item on page 7 of the Conservation Advisory Council notes. 
She is concerned about considering 50 percent of cost per home for upgrades to be outliers. 
Peter said we have asked CSG to do more analysis and reframe this. Peter said this will 
come back to the CAC.  
 
Debbie suggested adding more information in the CAC notes regarding attribution, such as 
who is making presentations, asking and answering questions. She also suggested adding 
page numbers to the notes. Staff will provide this detail in future notes. 
 
John Reynolds asked if Bob Repine would like to speak. Bob said ODOE will make its budget 
presentation to the legislature February 23 and 24. Yesterday was the first hearing on HB 
2900, Rep. Bailey’s bill that effectively reorganizes and redistributes ODOE responsibilities. 
The hearing was well attended. Three organizations testified. He characterized this as the 
very first stage of discussion.  
 
Alan Meyer asked if ODOE receives general funds, Bob Repine said no. ODOE’s funds 
primarily come from fees assessed to suppliers of power, application fees, loan fees, service 
fees and from federal programs. The tax credits are a byproduct of general funds and there is 
no clarity yet on whether BETC and RETC will sunset as now scheduled in 2012. The 
manufacturing tax credit was previously extended through 2014. The governor’s office does 
not yet have a natural resources advisor.  
 
Dan Enloe asked about components of the agency’s $250 million budget. Bob said much of 
this represents SELP loans, ARRA funds and other resources. Fees represent a relatively 
small share. He offered to share a one-pager on the budget with the board.  
 







Discussion Minutes  February 9, 2011 


 
13


Adjourn 
 
Julie Hammond moved, and Debbie Kitchin seconded adjournment. The meeting adjourned 
at 2:55 pm. 
 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors will be 
held Wednesday, March 30, 2011, 12:00 noon at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 
SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor, Portland, Oregon.  
 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
      John Reynolds, President 








 


Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
March 8, 2011, 4:00-5:30 pm 


Attendees 
Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds, Rick Applegate (by telephone) and Roger Hamilton (by 
telephone). Staff: Margie Harris, Amber Cole, Fred Gordon, Steve Lacey, John Volkman and 
Peter West 
 
1. Policy reviews 


a. Cost-effectiveness policy and methodology. Staff proposed changes to align the 
policy with integrated resource planning, Energy Trust’s utility contracts, and the 
Planning Department’s capabilities and practice. The revised policy would focus 
exclusively on cost-effectiveness as a threshold screen for measures and programs, 
and leave all other investment criteria for the strategic plan. The current policy 
comingles cost-effectiveness and other investment criteria. The committee endorsed 
taking the revisions to the CAC with a clear justification for the changes. After the 
CAC discussion, staff will bring it back to the committee for consideration.  


 
b. Lost opportunities policy. Because we are now currently fully funded to acquire all 


cost-effective savings, the policy now has limited application. We still make 
investment decisions on the margin about where to grow next, and the policy does 
apply then. Staff favors retaining the policy without modification. The committee 
concurred. 
 


c. Balanced competition policy. Staff did not recommend changes in this policy at this 
time, and briefed the committee on issues arising under it. As our PMCs’ businesses 
grow and diversify, there is the potential for them to do independent work for a 
business that later applies for incentives under an Energy Trust program managed 
by the same PMC. Because this would raise an issue under section 4 of the policy, 
we are in discussion with one PMC now, and expect the issue to arise again. Unless 
and until our discussions suggest a policy change would be advisable, staff 
recommended no change in this policy. The committee recommended that the policy 
be renewed for another three years, and if staff concludes that a change is needed to 
deal with the issues noted above, the committee will consider it. 


 
2. Draft board retreat agenda. Staff presented a draft board retreat agenda. The 


committee urged staff to link the proposed analytical presentation together with the 
discussion of opportunities and challenges.  The committee also suggested: consider a 
discussion of how Energy Trust relates to the Governor’s clean energy agenda; and how 
we measure up in relation to the Power Council goals and Oregon climate goals. The 
committee liked the idea of inviting someone from the Governor’s office to speak to the 
board over lunch. This could focus on the Governor’s clean-energy agenda. A utility 
roundtable should be scheduled for this summer, after the retreat.  







Policy Committee Notes March 8, 2011 


Page 2 of 4 


 
3. Legislation. Staff briefed the committee on pending bills, including:  


• SB 673 would allow utilities to collect public purpose charges from users over 1 aMW 
(http://www.leg.state.or.us/11reg/measpdf/sb0600.dir/sb0673.intro.pdf); 


• HB 3587 would sunset the 3% public purpose charge in October of this year,  
(http://www.leg.state.or.us/11reg/measpdf/hb3500.dir/hb3587.intro.pdf);  


• SB 57 would authorize the Oregon Business Development Commission to use 
revenue bonds to finance economic development projects that are primarily for the 
generation, transmission, sale or distribution of electric energy, primarily on-site 
renewable projects. The bill got a unanimous do-pass recommendation from the 
Senate Committee on Business, Transportation and Economic Development. 


• HB 3582 would extend the sunset date for the business energy tax credit to 2022; 
• SB 688 would extend residential energy tax credit to 2018.  


 
4. Building lease. Staff reported on the status of the negotiations for post-2011 building 


space. The committee stressed the need for good space for board meetings, CAC, RAC, 
etc.  


 
5. Report on contractors paid more than $500,000 in 2010.  


In February, 2011, the board amended the policy on contract execution authority to 
require reporting on instances in which a contractor receives more than $500,000 in 
Energy Trust funding per year under separate contracts. The committee reviewed a draft 
list and asked that it be scrubbed to remove any contracts that have already been 
approved by the board.   


 
6. Advisory Council Memberships  


Staff recommended several membership changes in the CAC and RAC, which the 
committee reviewed and endorsed  


 
CAC   
• In lieu of Steve Weiss, Wendy Gerlitz is a Senior Policy Associate with the NW 


Energy Coalition. She represents the Coalition advocating clean and affordable 
energy in BPA, Northwest Power and Conservation Council and other forums, 
including Oregon utilities and state agencies. Previously, Wendy ran her own 
consulting business. She conducted research and policy analysis on economic and 
ecological issues in federal forest management for Sustainable Northwest. She also 
worked on climate change, air emissions and corporate footprint monitoring for PGE. 
She also worked with the Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission where she 
staffed the Commission’s appointment to President Clinton’s Council on Sustainable 
Development. Wendy has a BA from University of Wisconsin and a master's in 
Environmental Management from Yale University. 


• Don MacOdrum is the new Executive Director of the Home Performance Contractor’s 
Guild. The Guild represents a collective of contractors that have been instrumental in 
the development of energy efficiency programs, such as Clean Energy Works 
Portland. Guild member companies offer comprehensive Home Performance testing 
and services and feature technicians with Building Performance Institute 
certifications. Guild member companies are locally owned and employ local workers.  







Policy Committee Notes March 8, 2011 


Page 3 of 4 


• Paul Kase, the association’s current representative, has notified the Oregon 
Remodelers Association (ORA) that he will not be renewing his membership for 
2011. We are still waiting to hear back from the ORA about replacing Paul. 


 
RAC: Several people have left the RAC over the past five months: Kyle Davis, Pacific 
Power (promoted to a different job); Theresa Gibney, OPUC (left OPUC); Ed Kennel, 
Clean Energy Services (a small wind consultant who didn’t have enough time to make 
meetings); Jeff King, NWPPC; Deb Malin, BPA (didn’t have enough time to make 
meetings); Robin Straughn, ODOE (left ODOE); and Sandra Walden (Oregon Solar 
Energy Industries Association has hired a new executive director who would like to serve 
on the RAC instead). The remaining members are: 
• Troy Gagliano, Enxco 
• Margie Gardner, Bonneville Environmental Foundation 
• Robert Grott, Northwest Environmental Business Council 
• Thor Hinkley, PGE 
• Frank Vignola, University of Oregon Solar Monitoring Lab 
• Energy Trust board: John Reynolds and Alan Meyer 


 
Staff used several criteria for new members: (1) good problem-solving skills, and ability 
to consider a variety of perspectives, not just their organization’s; (2) help fill out the 
RAC’s familiarity with a range of technologies; (3) geographic representation (beyond 
Portland); and (4) ability to attend meetings.  Based on these criteria, staff 
recommended the following people:  
• Jason Busch, Executive Director of the Oregon Wave Energy Trust.  Wave power is 


one of the developing technologies that Energy Trust is monitoring and may become 
involved in within the next few years. Jason provides a direct link to wave energy 
developments and will help us learn about more mature technologies.  As the 
executive director of a renewable energy organization, Jason struggles with some of 
the same issues that we do.  


• Eric Chung, Director of Environmental Policy and Strategy at PacifiCorp. Eric 
provides a utility perspective, and skill in strategic thinking.  He has an MBA in 
finance and economics.  


• Megan Decker, Senior Staff Counsel at Renewable Northwest Project. Megan is a 
former land use attorney and now manages RNP’s participation in state regulatory 
proceedings. Her understanding of the policy framework and regulatory background 
of our work is helpful, as is her ability to think about the long-term implications of 
procedural and policy issues. 


• Ben Henson, CEO and founder of Renewable Energy Solutions in Wallowa County. 
RES creates economically viable enterprises based upon sustainable natural 
resource use and conservation. We have worked with Ben and RES on several 
projects. He was formerly a business owner and developer prior to ‘retiring’ to 
Wallowa County and founding RES. In addition to his knowledge of business and 
renewable energy, Ben brings a rural perspective. 


• Suzanne Leta-Liou, RES Americas. Suzanne formerly served on the RAC when she 
was at RNP. She knows the technologies and is a creative thinker. Now, she also 
brings a private-sector perspective. 







Policy Committee Notes March 8, 2011 


Page 4 of 4 


• Glenn Montgomery, Executive Director of the Oregon Solar Energy Industries 
Association. Glenn has background in solar, economic development, budgeting and 
program planning. 


• Vijay Satyal, Senior Policy Analyst with Oregon Department of Energy. Vijay does 
policy analysis and evaluation in energy storage and transmission, smart grid, 
renewable energy and other areas.  


 








 


 


 


 


Board Decision 
Acceptance of Audited Financial Report 
March 30, 2011 
 
Purpose 
 
Paragraph 3.a.iii(A) of the grant agreement with the Oregon Public Utility Commission requires 
that annual financial statements be audited by an outside independent certified public 
accountant. This resolution accepts the audited financial report and opinion submitted by 
Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended December 31, 2010, as recommended by 
the audit committee.   


Committee Review 
 
Reviewed by the Audit Committee. 


Recommendation 
 


RESOLUTION 581 
ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT 


 
BE IT RESOLVED:  That Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., Board of Directors 
accepts the audited financial statement report, including an unqualified 
opinion, submitted by Perkins & Company, P.C. for the calendar year ended 
December 31, 2010. 


 
 


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" vote] 


 





